THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the contents of this document or the action you should take, you are recommended to seek your own financial advice as soon as possible from your stockbroker, bank, solicitor, accountant or other appropriate independent financial adviser duly authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") (as amended) if you are in the United Kingdom, or from another appropriately authorised independent professional adviser if you are taking advice in a territory outside the United Kingdom.

If you sell or have sold or otherwise transferred all your Smiths Shares, please send this document together with the accompanying documents (other than documents or forms personalised to you) at once to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for delivery to the purchaser or transferee. However, such documents should not be forwarded or transmitted in or into any jurisdiction in which such act would constitute a violation of the relevant laws in such jurisdiction. If you sell or have sold or otherwise transferred only part of your holding of Smiths Shares, you should retain these documents and consult the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected.

The release, publication or distribution of this document in jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom may be restricted by law and, therefore, any persons who are subject to the laws of any jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom should inform themselves about, and observe, any applicable requirements. Any failure to comply with these requirements or restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws or regulations of any such jurisdiction. This document has been prepared for the purposes of complying with English law and the Listing Rules and the information disclosed may not be the same as that which would have been disclosed if this document had been prepared in accordance with the laws and regulations of any jurisdiction outside of England.

smiths

Smiths Group plc

(incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 00137013)

Proposed Sale of Smiths Medical Proposed return of up to £742 million to Shareholders Notice of General Meeting

This document should be read as a whole. Your attention, in particular, is drawn to the risk factors set out in Part II (*Risk Factors*) of this document and the letter from the Chairman of Smiths that is set out in Part I (*Letter from the Chairman of Smiths*) of this document and which contains a unanimous recommendation from the Directors that you vote in favour of the Resolutions to be proposed at the General Meeting.

Notice of a General Meeting of Smiths to be held at Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP, 100 Bishopsgate, EC2P 2SR at 1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding AGM shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021 is set out in Part X (*Notice of General Meeting*) of this document.

The actions to be taken in respect of the General Meeting are set out in Section 14 of Part I (*Letter from the Chairman of Smiths*) of this document. Shareholders will find enclosed with this document a Form of Proxy for use in connection with the General Meeting. At present, public health guidance and legislation issued by the UK Government in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic would permit public gatherings and travel at the date of the General Meeting. However, due to the continuing potential health risks from public gatherings because of the COVID-19 pandemic, Shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy and to give their instructions on how they wish the Chairman of the General Meeting remotely via a live webcast, should they wish to do so. Please note that viewing the General Meeting and submitting questions electronically via the webcast will not constitute formal attendance at, or participation in the business (or quorum) of, the General Meeting by Shareholders,

and Shareholders will not be able to vote via the webcast. Shareholders planning to view the webcast should submit their proxies as early as possible appointing the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy. Shareholders can appoint their proxy by either completing the Form of Proxy and returning it, or submit their vote online, in accordance with the instructions printed on the Form of Proxy and set out in the Notice of General Meeting at the end of this document.

Completed Forms of Proxy should be returned to Smiths' Registrars, Equiniti Limited of Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA, as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to be received no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the case of an adjournment, not later than 48 hours prior to the time fixed for the holding of the adjourned meeting). If you hold Smiths Shares in CREST, you may appoint a proxy by completing and transmitting a CREST Proxy Instruction to the Registrar, Equiniti (CREST participant ID: RA19), so that it is received by no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the case of an adjournment, not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding of the adjourned meeting). Proxy appointments may also be submitted via the internet at www.sharevote.co.uk so that the appointment is received by no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the case of an adjournment, not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the adjourned meeting).

If you have any questions about the General Meeting or on the completion and return of the Form of Proxy, please call the Equiniti shareholder helpline between 8.30 a.m. and 5.30 p.m. (London (UK) time) Monday to Friday (except UK public holidays) on 0371 384 2008 or on +44 (0) 121 415 7130 from outside the UK. Please note that calls may be monitored or recorded and the helpline cannot provide financial, legal or tax advice or advice on the merits of the Sale or the Share Buyback Resolution.

Goldman Sachs International ("Goldman Sachs"), which is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA") and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") and the PRA in the United Kingdom, is acting exclusively as joint sponsor and joint financial adviser to Smiths and for no one else in connection with the matters described in this document and will not be responsible to anyone other than Smiths for providing the protections afforded to clients of Goldman Sachs nor for giving advice in connection with the matters set out in this document or any transaction, arrangement or other matter referred to in this document.

J.P. Morgan Securities plc, which conducts its UK investment banking business as J.P. Morgan Cazenove ("J.P. Morgan Cazenove"), is authorised in the United Kingdom by the PRA and regulated in the United Kingdom by the FCA and the PRA. J.P. Morgan Cazenove is acting exclusively as joint sponsor and joint financial adviser to Smiths and for no one else in connection with the Sale and will not regard any other person as a client in relation to the Sale and will not be responsible to anyone other than Smiths for providing the protections afforded to clients of J.P. Morgan Cazenove or its affiliates, nor for providing advice in connection with the Sale or any transaction, arrangement or other matter referred to in this document.

Gleacher Shacklock LLP ("Gleacher Shacklock"), which is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the FCA, is acting exclusively as joint financial adviser to Smiths and for no one else in connection with the matters described in this document and will not be responsible to anyone other than Smiths for providing the protections afforded to clients of Gleacher Shacklock nor for providing advice in connection with the matters set out in this document or any transaction, arrangement or other matter referred to in this document.

Apart from the responsibilities and liabilities, if any, which may be imposed upon Goldman Sachs, J.P. Morgan Cazenove and Gleacher Shacklock (together, the "Joint Financial Advisers") by FSMA or the regulatory regime established thereunder, each Joint Financial Adviser accepts no responsibility whatsoever and makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, for or in respect of the contents of this document, including its accuracy, completeness or verification or for any other statement made or purported to be made by it, or on its behalf, in connection with the Company, and nothing in this document is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise or representation in this respect, whether as to the past or future. The Joint Financial Advisers accordingly disclaim, to the fullest extent permitted by law, all and any responsibility and liability whatsoever arising in tort, contract or otherwise (save as referred to above), which it might otherwise have in respect of this document or any such statement.

IMPORTANT NOTICES

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, "forward-looking statements". These forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms "anticipates", "believes", "could", "estimates", "expects", "intends", "may", "plans", "projects", "should" or "will", or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology, "targets", "aims", "forecasts" or by discussions of strategy, plans, objectives, goals, future events or intentions.

These forward-looking statements include all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this document and include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the Directors' intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, the business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth and strategies of the Smiths Group, Smiths Medical and the Continuing Group.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future events and circumstances. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and the actual results of operations of the Smiths Group, Smiths Medical or the Continuing Group, and the developments of the markets and the industries in which they operate, may differ materially from those described in, or suggested by, the forward-looking statements contained in this document. In addition, even if the results of operations of the Smiths Group, Smiths Medical or the Continuing Group and the developments of the markets and the industries in which they operate are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this document, those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods. A number of risks, uncertainties and other factors could cause results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements (see Part II (*Risk Factors*) of this document).

Forward-looking statements may, and often do, differ materially from actual results. Any forward-looking statements in this document reflect the Directors' current view with respect to future events and are subject to risks relating to future events and other risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to the Smiths Group's business, results of operations, financial condition, prospects, growth and strategies. Shareholders should specifically consider the factors identified in this document which could cause actual results to differ before making a decision on the Sale and the Share Buyback Resolution.

Other than in accordance with its legal or regulatory obligations (including under the Listing Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules, the Prospectus Regulation Rules, the Market Abuse Regulation (EU No. 596/2014) as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018), Smiths is not under any obligation and Smiths expressly disclaims any intention or obligation (to the maximum extent permitted by law) to update or revise any forward-looking statements in this document, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise after the date of this document.

Neither the Company nor any of its Directors, officers or advisers provides any representation, assurance or guarantee that the occurrence of the events expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements in this document will actually occur. You are cautioned not to place any undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as at the date of this document.

The above explanatory wording regarding forward-looking statements does not in any way seek to qualify the statement regarding working capital that can be found at Section 11 of Part VII (*Additional Information*) of this document.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Smiths Medical financial information for the financial years ended 31 July 2019, 2020 and 2021 contained in this document has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union ("IFRS").

Certain figures included in this document have been subjected to rounding adjustments. Percentages in tables have been rounded and accordingly may not add up to 100 per cent. Certain financial data have also been rounded. As a result of this rounding, the totals of data presented in this document may vary slightly from the actual arithmetic totals of such data.

In this document: (i) references to "£", "pounds sterling", "pence" or "GBP" are to the lawful currency of the UK; and (ii) references to "\$", "USD", "US dollars" or "cents" are to the lawful currency of the US.

ENTERPRISE VALUE

In this document, the enterprise value of Smiths Medical is stated on a debt free, cash free basis and before taking into account: (i) any adjustments required under the terms of the Sale; (ii) tax; and (iii) associated transaction costs.

EXCHANGE RATES

The sale proceeds received by Smiths under the terms of the Sale will be received in USD (\$). Equivalents have been presented in GBP (£) in this document for illustrative purposes using a rate of 1.3731:£1.00 based on the exchange rate as at 4.30 p.m. on the Latest Practicable Date.

The trading results for the Continuing Group and Smiths Medical have been presented in GBP (\pounds) and for illustrative purposes the USD (\$) equivalents have been provided using the historical average exchange rate for the respective reporting period. This was: $\$1.36:\pounds1.00$ for FY'21.

The numbers for the Continuing Group and Smiths Medical's balance sheet (gross assets and net assets) have been presented in GBP (£) and for illustrative purposes the USD (\$) equivalents have been provided using the historical closing exchange rate at the balance sheet date. This was: 1.39:£1.00 as at 31 July 2021.

NON-IFRS MEASURES

The Smiths Group uses alternative performance measures ("APMs"), which are not defined or specified under IFRS or any other internationally recognised generally accepted accounting principles, to gauge the performance of the business. APMs are not considered to be a substitute for IFRS measures but do provide additional, helpful information. APMs are consistent with how business performance is planned, reported and assessed internally by management and the Board and provide comparable information across the Smiths Group.

APMs used in this document include headline EBITDA, headline operating profit and Net Debt, as well as underlying revenue. These performance measures may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures as reported by other companies, as other companies may calculate these measures differently than the Smiths Group does and these measures may not be permitted to appear on the face of the primary financial statements, or footnotes thereto, and in some cases, may not be permitted at all, in US filings made to the SEC. These performance measures have limitations as analytical tools, and none of these measures should be considered in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of the Smiths Group's operating results, including its income statements and cash flow statements, as reported under IFRS. All non-IFRS measures presented in this document are unaudited.

Definitions of these measures, along with reconciliations of these measures, as applicable, to the Smiths Group's historical financial information are set out below.

"HEADLINE" MEASURES OF PERFORMANCE

The Smiths Group has defined a "headline" measure of performance that excludes material non-recurring items or items considered non-operational/trading in nature. Items excluded from headline are referred to as non-headline items. This measure is used by the Smiths Group to measure and monitor performance excluding material non-recurring items or items considered non-operational.

HEADLINE EBITDA

Headline EBITDA is defined as profit before finance costs, depreciation, amortisation and taxation and excluding material non-recurring items considered non-operational/trading in nature, such as results of disposals, costs related to business acquisitions and disposals and amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets. Headline EBITDA is a widely used profit measure, not defined by IFRS. Reconciliation of this measure to the Smiths Group's historical financial information is set out below.

HEADLINE OPERATING PROFIT

Headline operating profit is defined as profit before finance costs and taxation and excluding material nonrecurring items considered non-operational/trading in nature, such as results of disposals, costs related to business acquisitions and disposals and amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets. Operating profit is a widely used measure, not defined by IFRS, that is used by the Smiths Group to measure and monitor performance. Reconciliation of this measure to the Smiths Group's historical financial information is set out below.

HEADLINE OPERATING PROFIT MARGIN

Headline operating profit margin is calculated by dividing headline operating profit by revenue. This measure is used to monitor the Smiths Group's ability to drive profitable growth and control costs.

UNDERLYING HEADLINE OPERATING PROFIT GROWTH

Underlying headline operating profit growth is the growth (or decline) in headline operating profit excluding the effects of foreign exchange, acquisitions, restructuring costs, adjusting the prior period to reflect an equivalent period of ownership for divested businesses and including depreciation and amortisation for discontinued operations. Underlying headline operating profit growth is used by the Smiths Group to aid comparability when monitoring performance.

RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO HEADLINE OPERATING PROFIT FOR THE CONTINUING GROUP:

	Year ended 31 July 2021 £m	Year ended 31 July 2020 £m	Reported movement £m
Profit before taxation	240	133	
Net finance costs/(credit)	86	108	
Integration programme costs	1	4	
Unwind of acquisition balance sheet fair value uplift	1	-	
Business acquisition/disposal costs	1	3	
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) equalization	6	—	
Settlement gain on retirement benefit schemes		(7)	
Movement in provision held against Titeflex Corporation subrogation claims	(13)	1	
Provision for John Crane, Inc. asbestos litigation	6	31	
Cost recovery for John Crane, Inc. asbestos litigation	(9)	(3)	
Amortisation of acquisition related intangible asset	53	57	
Headline operating profit	372	327	45
Revenue	2,406	2,548	
Headline operating profit margin	15.5%	12.8%	+270bps

UNDERLYING HEADLINE OPERATING PROFIT AND MARGIN FOR THE CONTINUING GROUP:

	Headline operating profit £m	Movement (%)	Headline operating profit margin
Year ended 31 July 2021	372		15.5%
Year ended 31 July 2020	327		12.8%
Movement in reported result	45	+14%	+270bps
Foreign exchange	20		+10bps
Acquisitions & Disposals	(9)		-20bps
Restructuring and write-downs	(32)		-120bps
Movement in underlying result	24	+7%	+140bps

RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION TO HEADLINE OPERATING PROFIT AND HEADLINE EBITDA FOR SMITHS MEDICAL:

	Years ended 31 July		
	2021 £m	2020 £m	2019 £m
Profit before taxation	147	219	110
Net finance costs/(credit)	(49)	(58)	41
Medical separation costs	18	23	8
Impairment of capitalised development costs and related assets	61	_	
Business acquisition/disposal costs	—	_	2
Amortisation of acquisition related intangible asset	—	_	3
Profit on disposal of businesses			(17)
Headline operating profit	177	184	147
Depreciation	_	_	19
Amortisation of development costs	—	_	14
Amortisation of software, patents and intellectual property			7
Headline EBITDA	177	184	187
Finance costs	(1)	(4)	
Taxation	(42)	(41)	
Headline profit after taxation	134	139	
Headline operating profit	177	184	
Revenue	849	918	
Headline operating profit margin	20.8%	20.1%	

UNDERLYING HEADLINE PROFIT AFTER TAXATION FOR SMITHS MEDICAL:

	Smiths Medical	
	Profit after tax £m	Movement %
Year ended 31 July 2021	134	
Year ended 31 July 2020	139	
Movement in reported headline profit after taxation	(5)	-4%
Foreign exchange	5	
Restructuring and notional depreciation & amortisation charges	5	
Movement in underlying headline profit after taxation	5	+5%

UNDERLYING HEADLINE OPERATING PROFIT AND MARGIN FOR SMITHS MEDICAL:

	Headline operating profit £m	Movement (%)	Headline operating profit margin
Year ended 31 July 2021	177		20.8%
Year ended 31 July 2020	184		20.1%
Movement in reported result	(7)	-4%	+70bps
Foreign exchange	7		+10bps
Restructuring and notional depreciation & amortisation charges	5		+110bps
Movement in underlying result	5	+3%	+110bps

NET DEBT

Net Debt is total borrowings (bank, bonds and lease liabilities) less cash balances and derivatives used to manage the interest rate risk and currency profile of the debt. This measure is used to provide an indication of the Smiths Group's overall level of indebtedness. Further information on Net Debt is included in the 'Notes' at Part VI (Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Continuing Group) of this document.

UNDERLYING REVENUE

Underlying revenue is calculated by excluding the effects of foreign exchange and acquisitions, and adjusting the prior period to reflect an equivalent period of ownership of divested businesses. Underlying measures are used by the Smiths Group to monitor performance.

UNDERLYING REVENUE FOR SMITHS GROUP AND SMITHS MEDICAL:

	Smiths Group – continuing operations		Smiths Medical	
	Revenue £m	Movement %	Revenue £m	Movement %
12 months ended 31 July 2021	2,406		849	
12 months ended 31 July 2020	2,548		918	
Movement in reported revenue	(142)	-6%	(69)	-8%
Foreign exchange	123		39	
Acquisitions	(35)			
Movement in underlying revenue	(54)	-2%	(30)	-3%

	Smiths Group – continuing operations		Smiths Medical	
	Revenue £m	Movement %	Revenue £m	Movement %
6 months ended 31 January 2021	1,150		427	
6 months ended 31 January 2020	1,240		434	
Movement in reported revenue	(90)	-7%	(7)	-2%
Foreign exchange	34		8	
Acquisitions	(1)			
Movement in underlying revenue	(57)	-5%	1	+0.2%

DEFINITIONS

Certain terms used in this document, including capitalised terms and certain technical terms, are defined and explained in Part IX (*Definitions*) of this document.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Certain information in relation to the Company is incorporated by reference into this document. Further information is set out in Part VIII (*Information Incorporated by Reference*) of this document. Without limitation, unless expressly stated herein, the contents of the websites of the Smiths Group, and any links accessible through the websites of the Smiths Group, are not incorporated into and do not form part of this document.

NO PROFIT FORECAST OR ESTIMATES

Unless otherwise stated, no statement in this document is intended as a profit forecast or a profit estimate and no statement in this document should be interpreted to mean that earnings, earnings per Smiths Share or income, cash flow from operations or free cash flow for the Smiths Group, Smiths Medical or the Continuing Group, as appropriate, for the current or future financial years would necessarily match or exceed the historical published earnings, earnings per Smiths Share or income, cash flow from operations or free cash flow for the Smiths Group, Smiths Medical or the Continuing Group, as appropriate.

NO OFFER OR SOLICITATION

This document is not a prospectus and is not intended to, and does not constitute or form part of, any offer or invitation to purchase, acquire, subscribe for, sell, dispose of or issue, or any solicitation of any offer to sell, dispose of, purchase, acquire or subscribe for, any security.

This document is dated 29 October 2021.

CONTENTS

EXPECTED	TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS	10
CORPORAT	E DETAILS AND ADVISERS	11
PART I	LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF SMITHS	13
PART II	RISK FACTORS	24
PART III	SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SALE	31
PART IV	FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE SHARE BUYBACK PROGRAMME	38
PART V	HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO SMITHS MEDICAL	39
PART VI	UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CONTINUING GROUP	41
PART VII	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	46
PART VIII	INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	55
PART IX	DEFINITIONS	56
PART X	NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING	63

EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS

Announcement of the Sale	8 September 2021
Entry into the Sale and Purchase Agreement	27 September 2021
Publication and posting of this document, the Notice of General Meeting and the Form of Proxy	29 October 2021
Latest time and date for receipt of Forms of Proxy, CREST Proxy Instructions and electronic registration of proxy appointment for the General Meeting	1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021
Record time for entitlement to vote at the General Meeting (the "Record Time")	6.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021
AGM	11.30 a.m. on 17 November 2021
General Meeting	1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding AGM shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021
Expected date of Completion	early 2022
Long Stop Date	8 March 2022 (however, in certain limited circumstances, the Long Stop Date may be extended to 8 March 2023, as described in Section 1 of Part I (<i>Letter</i> <i>from the Chairman of Smiths</i>) of this document)

Notes:

All time references in this document are to London (UK) time.

Each of the times and dates in the above timetable is indicative only and may be subject to change by Smiths, in which event details of the new times and dates will be notified to the FCA and, where appropriate, to Shareholders through a Regulatory Information Service.

Further details regarding the AGM are set out in the Company's Notice of Annual General Meeting 2021 published on 19 October 2021.

CORPORATE DETAILS AND ADVISERS

Directors	Sir George Buckley Paul Keel John Shipsey William Seeger Jr. Pam Cheng Dame Ann Dowling Tanya Fratto Karin Hoeing Mark Seligman Noel Tata	(Chairman) (Chief Executive) (Chief Financial Officer) (Senior Independent Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director)
Company Secretary	Matthew Whyte	
Registered Office	4 th Floor 11-12 St James's Squar London SW1Y 4LB United Kingdom	e
Joint Sponsor and Joint Financial Adviser	Goldman Sachs Interna Plumtree Court 25 Shoe Lane London EC4A 4AU United Kingdom	tional
Joint Sponsor and Joint Financial Adviser	J.P. Morgan Securities 25 Bank Street Canary Wharf London E14 5JP United Kingdom	plc
Joint Financial Adviser	Gleacher Shacklock LL 33 King Street St. James's London SW1Y 6RJ United Kingdom	.P
Legal advisers to Smiths	Freshfields Bruckhaus 100 Bishopsgate London EC2P 2SR United Kingdom	Deringer LLP
	White & Case LLP 5 Old Broad Street London EC2N 1DW United Kingdom	
Auditor and Reporting Accountant	KPMG LLP 15 Canada Square London E14 5GL United Kingdom	

Registrars

Equiniti Limited Aspect House Spencer Road Lancing West Sussex BN99 6DA United Kingdom

PART I LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF SMITHS

SMITHS GROUP PLC

(Incorporated and registered in England and Wales with registered number 00137013)

Directors:

Sir George Buckley Paul Keel John Shipsey William Seeger Jr. Pam Cheng Dame Ann Dowling Tanya Fratto Karin Hoeing Mark Seligman Noel Tata

(Chairman) (Chief Executive) (Chief Financial Officer) (Senior Independent Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) (Non-Executive Director) Registered Office: 4th Floor 11-12 St James's Square London SW1Y 4LB United Kingdom

29 October 2021

Dear Shareholder,

Proposed Sale of Smiths Medical

Proposed return of up to £742 million to Shareholders

Notice of General Meeting

1. Introduction

On 8 September 2021, Smiths Group plc ("Smiths" or the "Company") announced that it had agreed the sale of Smiths Medical 2020 Limited ("SM2020"), the holding company of its global medical device business ("Smiths Medical"), to ICU Medical, Inc. ("ICU Medical" or the "Purchaser") (the "Sale"). The Sale values Smiths Medical at an enterprise value of \$2.7 billion (equivalent to £2.0 billion), plus an additional \$0.1 billion (equivalent to £73 million) contingent on the future share price performance of the enlarged ICU Medical business.

The consideration on Completion comprises:

- expected initial cash proceeds of \$1.85 billion (equivalent to £1.35 billion) (the "Initial Cash Proceeds");
- \$250,000 of cash per day to compensate Smiths for the cash which is expected to be generated by Smiths Medical from 1 January 2022 until Completion (the "**Daily Payment Amount**"); and
- 2.5 million new ICU Medical shares, worth \$0.6 billion at ICU Medical's closing share price on 27 October 2021 of \$227.39 (the **"Consideration Shares**"), equivalent to approximately 10 per cent. of the total outstanding shares of ICU Medical Common Stock. The value of the Consideration Shares has increased by \$54 million since the Sale was announced on 8 September 2021.

In addition, SGIHL shall be entitled to an additional \$0.1 billion (equivalent to £73 million) of consideration (the "Additional Consideration") contingent on Smiths retaining beneficial ownership of at least 1.25 million ICU Medical shares and the ICU Medical share price averaging \$300 or more for any 30 day period during the first three years post Completion, or for any 45 day period in the fourth year post Completion.

The principal terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement to effect the Sale are set out in Section 3 of this letter and in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

The value achieved represents an attractive outcome for Shareholders relative to other proposals received during the separation process, including, most recently, the transaction announced on 2 August 2021 with Trulli Bidco Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of funds advised by TA Associates LLP. The Board

believes that the Sale positions Smiths as a more focused industrial technology company with compelling opportunities for growth, a common operating model and shared purpose.

Following consultation with Smiths' largest shareholders, the Board intends to balance the use of the Initial Cash Proceeds between investment in growth and a significant return of capital to Shareholders. Approximately 45 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, equivalent to \$0.83 billion (equivalent to £0.6 billion), will be retained by the Smiths Group and will be used to create a strong balance sheet by reducing Net Debt and to support investment in additional value creating growth opportunities. These are predominantly organic opportunities and include the Smiths Group's innovative accelerator programmes, which are aligned with long-term trends in sustainability, energy transformation, and safety and security.

It is the Board's intention to return an amount representing 55 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, being £742 million (equivalent to \$1.02 billion), to Shareholders by way of a Share Buyback Programme. It is expected that the Share Buyback Programme will involve the on-market purchase of Smiths Shares. The Share Buyback Programme is expected to be completed within two years of Completion, subject to market conditions. Further details on the use of proceeds are set out in Section 4 of this letter and Part IV (*Further Information on the Share Buyback Programme*) of this document.

The Board's current intention is to retain the Consideration Shares after Completion. Further details of the Consideration Shares are set out in Section 1.2 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

The Board is carefully considering the position of the Smiths Industries Pension Scheme ("SIPS") and TI Group Pension Scheme ("TIGPS" and, together with SIPS, the "Schemes") and in line with good practice, the Smiths Group is engaged in ongoing discussions with the trustees of SIPS and TIGPS in relation to the Sale and the Share Buyback Programme.

The Sale constitutes a Class 1 transaction for Smiths under the Listing Rules and is therefore conditional upon the approval of Shareholders. Accordingly, a General Meeting at which Shareholders will be asked to approve the Sale is being convened at Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP, 100 Bishopsgate, EC2P 2SR at 1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding AGM shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021. At the General Meeting, Shareholders will also be asked to provide the Company with authority to conduct market purchases of Smiths Shares by approving the Share Buyback Resolution. The Resolutions will each require approval by a simple majority of votes cast at the General Meeting. If the Share Buyback Resolution is approved by Shareholders, the authority conferred on the Company shall be in substitution for and will supersede any previous general authorities conferred on the Company (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any general authority conferred on the Company by Shareholders at the AGM).

The Sale is also conditional on receipt of antitrust and foreign direct investment clearances from relevant Regulatory Authorities. Further information regarding the regulatory conditions required to effect the Sale is set out in Section 3 of this letter.

The purpose of this document is to (i) explain the background to and reasons for the Sale and provide you with information on the Share Buyback Programme; (ii) explain why the Board considers the Sale to be in the best interests of Shareholders as a whole; and (iii) convene a General Meeting to seek Shareholder approval for the Sale and the Share Buyback Resolution. The Board unanimously recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of each of the Resolutions at the General Meeting, as the Directors intend to do in respect of their aggregate shareholdings in the Company representing approximately 0.03 per cent. of the Company's current issued share capital as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Shareholders should read the whole of this document and not only rely on the summarised information set out in this letter. Shareholders will find definitions for the capitalised terms used in this letter and the rest of this document in Part IX (*Definitions*) of this document.

2. Background to and reasons for the Sale

On 14 November 2018, Smiths announced its intention to pursue the separation of Smiths Medical in order to create two distinct, more focused companies with independent strategies with a view to optimising shareholder value.

Smiths Medical is a leading global medical device business specialising in infusion systems, vascular access and vital care. The Board determined that the separation of Smiths Medical would enable Smiths to concentrate on growing as a leading industrial technology group and enable Smiths Medical to focus on realising its full potential in the dynamic medical device market. Since the announcement of the proposed separation, Smiths Medical has been accounted for as a discontinued operation.

On 22 March 2019, Smiths announced its intention to pursue a demerger of Smiths Medical, whilst in parallel continuing to evaluate all opportunities for value maximisation, with the overriding objective of continuing to strengthen both Smiths Medical and the Smiths Group. Consistent with this approach and having received a number of offers for Smiths Medical, the Board ran a sale process for Smiths Medical in parallel with demerger preparations. On 31 March 2020, following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board decided to delay the separation process until global conditions improved.

On 26 March 2021, with improved external conditions, the Board reaffirmed its commitment to separation. Since this time, Smiths has completed steps necessary to demerge Smiths Medical and also received and evaluated multiple proposals to acquire Smiths Medical from both strategic and financial sponsor buyers.

On 2 August 2021, Smiths announced that it had entered into an agreement for the sale of Smiths Medical to Trulli Bidco Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of funds advised by TA Associates LLP (the "TA Transaction"). The TA Transaction valued Smiths Medical at an enterprise value of \$2.3 billion (equivalent to £1.7 billion), plus an additional \$0.2 billion contingent on the future performance of Smiths Medical and was unanimously recommended by the Board. The TA Transaction was conditional upon the approval of Shareholders and customary antitrust and regulatory clearances and would have been expected to complete by the end of calendar year 2021. At the point of announcement, the TA Transaction was superior to all other proposals received during the separation process.

However, as announced by the Company on 8 September 2021, following announcement of the TA Transaction, Smiths received an offer from ICU Medical whereby ICU Medical offered to acquire Smiths Medical on terms that are superior to those of the TA Transaction. Smiths announced the terms of the Sale, the entry into a put option deed (the "**Put Option**") with ICU Medical on 8 September 2021 and the withdrawal of the Board's recommendation of the TA Transaction.

The Sale values Smiths Medical at a headline enterprise value of \$2.7 billion (equivalent to £2.0 billion), on a cash and debt free basis, plus an additional \$0.1 billion contingent on the future share price performance of the enlarged ICU Medical business. After deduction of debt and other liabilities, the equity value of the Sale is \$2.4 billion, approximately \$0.4 billion higher than under the TA Transaction.

Pursuant to the Put Option, following the completion of an information and consultation process with the Social and Economic Committee of Smiths Medical France SAS (the "**French Works Council**"), Smiths had the unilateral right to require ICU Medical to enter into a binding share purchase agreement on the terms reflected in the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The information and consultation process was completed, and Smiths exercised the Put Option, entering into the Sale and Purchase Agreement with the Purchaser on 27 September 2021, and the Board also announced its recommendation of the Sale.

Smiths has evaluated all options on a combination of value, certainty of completion and structure. The Board has unanimously recommended the Sale as being in the best interests of Shareholders. The Board believes that the Sale is a better outcome for Shareholders than a demerger, for the following reasons:

- the Sale recognises the strategic value of the Smiths Medical business, as a leader across its markets, with strong brands and technology, although it has not delivered consistently strong financial performance relative to its medtech peers;
- combining Smith Medical's complementary portfolio of products and solutions with ICU Medical will enable Smiths to participate in future value creation including through synergies. Smiths will participate in this value creation through its 2.5 million ICU Medical shares and an additional \$0.1 billion of consideration contingent on the future share price performance of the enlarged ICU Medical business;
- the Sale is expected to realise Initial Cash Proceeds of \$1.85 billion (equivalent to £1.35 billion) at Completion;
- Shareholders are expected to benefit from an amount representing 55 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, being £742 million (equivalent to \$1.02 billion) of cash, being returned to Shareholders by way of the Share Buyback Programme;

- the \$0.83 billion (equivalent to £0.6 billion) of retained proceeds from the Sale will be used to create a strong balance sheet by reducing Net Debt and to support investment in additional value creating growth opportunities, including the Continuing Group's innovative accelerator programmes, which are aligned with long-term trends in sustainability, energy transformation and safety and security; and
- the Sale will enable the Continuing Group to focus on the attractive structural growth opportunities across its business and on growing as a leading industrial technology group united by shared purpose, business characteristics and a shared operating model. The Continuing Group aims to outperform by targeting growing markets where it can achieve a sustainable leading position.

3. Principal terms of the Sale

On 27 September 2021, Smiths Group International Holdings Limited ("SGIHL" or the "Seller") (a whollyowned, direct subsidiary of Smiths) and the Purchaser (together, the "Parties") entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Seller agreed, on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, to sell its entire shareholding in SM2020 to the Purchaser.

The Sale values Smiths Medical at an enterprise value of 2.7 billion (equivalent to 2.0 billion). The equity value after expected completion adjustments is 2.4 billion (equivalent to 1.7 billion). The expected completion adjustments include (amongst other items) amounts in relation to cash, debt, working capital, lease liabilities, tax liabilities, provisions for restructuring and litigation, expected future investment in Smiths Medical's quality and regulatory function and systems (including as may be required as a result of the ongoing FDA audit referred to in Section 9.2 of Part VII (*Additional Information*) of this document) and future payments related to commercial partnerships.

The consideration under the Sale and Purchase Agreement comprises cash consideration of \$797 million (the "**Cash Consideration**"), the Consideration Shares and, contingent on the future share price performance of the enlarged ICU Medical business, the Additional Consideration. Additionally, immediately following Completion, the Purchaser will make the SGIHL Loan Repayment.

The Sale constitutes a Class 1 transaction for Smiths under the Listing Rules and is therefore conditional upon the approval of the Sale Resolution by Shareholders. The Sale is also conditional upon the satisfaction (or waiver, where applicable) of the Antitrust Conditions, the FDI Conditions and the termination of the TA Sale and Purchase Agreement (the "TA SPA Termination Condition") (being, together with the approval of the Sale Resolution by Shareholders, the "Conditions").

The Sale and Purchase Agreement shall only terminate if any Condition has not been fulfilled or waived by the relevant Long Stop Date and either the Seller or the Purchaser gives notice to the other to terminate.

In respect of the Antitrust Conditions and the FDI Conditions, the Purchaser has agreed to take any and all steps necessary or required in order to obtain clearance by any relevant Regulatory Authority by the date which is six months from the Announcement Date (the "Long Stop Date"), provided that: (i) if on such date, the Antitrust Conditions and/or the FDI Conditions have not been satisfied, then the Long Stop Date shall be extended to be the date that is fifteen (15) months from the Announcement Date (or such other date as the Parties may agree in writing); and (ii) if on the date falling ten (10) business days prior to such extended Long Stop Date as described in (i), the Antitrust Conditions in so far as they relate to the United States have not been satisfied and are not reasonably likely to be satisfied by such extended Long Stop Date, the Purchaser may serve on the Seller, no later than five (5) business days prior to such extended Long Stop Date, a written notice electing to extend the Long Stop Date by a period of three (3) additional months provided certain criteria are satisfied, and in each such case, the term "Long Stop Date" shall be construed to mean the date as so extended pursuant to (i) or (ii) (as applicable).

Subject to the exclusions referred to below, the steps the Purchaser has agreed to take include (but are not limited to) agreement to any (i) conditions, undertakings, sale, divestment, licence or disposition of any necessary assets or business; (ii) termination of any existing relationships, contractual rights or obligations; and/or (iii) effectuating any other change or restructuring of the Smiths Medical Group or any member of the Purchaser's Group. The Purchaser is not required to sell, divest, licence or otherwise dispose of or hold separate the Purchaser's Plum 360TM products (or the associated business and assets).

One of the Antitrust Conditions required the Sale to be subject to the requirements of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"). The Parties submitted the requisite notification and report forms under the HSR Act on 22 September 2021. The waiting period under the HSR

Act expired on 22 October 2021. Neither of the Parties received any inquiries from the Federal Trade Commission (the "**FTC**") or the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice during the waiting period thereby satisfying the relevant Antitrust Condition relating to the HSR Act. On 22 October 2021, the FTC sent a customary letter to the Parties indicating that, while the waiting period has expired, the FTC reserves its right to take further action with respect to the Sale. This letter is consistent with the HSR Act and the FTC's recently announced practice of sending such letters to parties making filings under the HSR Act.

As a result of the HSR Act waiting period having expired and the Antitrust Condition relating to the HSR Act now being satisfied, the Board expects that, subject to the satisfaction and/or waiver (where applicable) of the other Conditions, Completion is expected to occur in early 2022. The Sale will not proceed if any outstanding Condition has not been satisfied (or waived, where applicable) on or before the relevant Long Stop Date.

ICU Medical has further agreed that, if the remaining Antitrust Conditions and/or the FDI Conditions have not been satisfied (or, where applicable, waived) or, having satisfied or waived such conditions (as applicable), the Purchaser fails to proceed to Completion for any other reason, by the relevant Long Stop Date, ICU Medical will pay Smiths a reverse break fee of \$300 million, \$200 million of which will be payable in cash with the balance of \$100 million to be settled by the issuance of new ICU Medical shares to Smiths (with the issuance of such shares not being subject to any lock-up). Smiths is not required to pay any break fee in the event that the Sale does not complete.

Under the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Seller has given certain customary warranties, indemnities and undertakings to the Purchaser and has given an undertaking not to compete in the medical devices business for a period of three years following Completion.

Further details of the principal terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement are set out in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

As part of the Sale, Smiths has agreed the terms of the Trade Mark Licence Agreement which grants Smiths Medical the right to use the "Smiths", "Smiths Medical" and "bringing technology to life" trade marks owned by Smiths (the "Smiths Trade Marks") to manage its transition from compliance with the Medical Devices Directive to the Medical Devices Regulation in the European Union and to otherwise facilitate the continued operation of its business and allow it sufficient time to rebrand. Smiths has also agreed the terms of a Transitional Services Agreement, which will govern the provision of certain IT services and other operational services between Smiths and the Smiths Medical Group for a transitional period after Completion. Further detail on these matters is contained in Part III (*Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale*) of this document.

As a term of the Sale, Smiths has agreed to enter into a Shareholders' Agreement at Completion to govern the relationship between SGIHL and ICU Medical in respect of SGIHL's holdings in ICU Medical, providing certain rights for SGIHL as a minority investor. SGIHL shall have the right to designate one non-executive director to the board of directors of ICU Medical and to appoint such director to the audit committee of ICU Medical for as long as SGIHL owns at least 5 per cent. of the total outstanding shares of ICU Medical Common Stock. The directors have equal voting rights in respect of board matters. Under the terms of the Shareholders' Agreement, Smiths' shares in ICU Medical shall be subject to a six-month lock-up. Further detail on these matters is contained in Part III (*Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale*) of this document.

Further details of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Transitional Services Agreement, the Trade Mark Licence Agreement and the Shareholders' Agreement are set out in Part III (*Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale*) of this document.

4. Use of proceeds

Following the announcement of the TA Transaction on 2 August 2021, Smiths consulted with its largest shareholders regarding the use of proceeds. A majority supported returning 50 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds via a Share Buyback Programme, with a range of other views expressed. The use of proceeds, set out below, reflects a balanced response to this feedback.

The Board intends to balance the use of the Initial Cash Proceeds (expected to be \$1.85 billion) between investment in growth and a significant return of capital to Shareholders. Approximately 45 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, equivalent to \$0.83 billion (equivalent to £0.6 billion), will be used to create a strong

balance sheet by reducing Net Debt and to support investment in additional value creating growth opportunities. These are predominantly organic opportunities and include the Smiths Group's innovative accelerator programmes, which are aligned with long-term trends in sustainability, energy transformation and safety and security.

It is the Board's intention to return an amount representing 55 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, being £742 million (equivalent to \$1.02 billion), to Shareholders by way of the Share Buyback Programme.

The Board is carefully considering the position of the Schemes and in line with good practice, the Smiths Group is engaged in ongoing discussions with the trustees of SIPS and TIGPS in relation to the Sale and the Share Buyback Programme.

Share Buyback Programme

It is expected that the Share Buyback Programme will be an on-market share buyback programme to purchase Smiths Shares in order to return an amount representing 55 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, being \pounds 742 million (equivalent to \$1.02 billion), to Shareholders. The Share Buyback Programme is expected to be completed within two years of Completion, subject to market conditions.

The commencement of the Share Buyback Programme will be announced separately and the Company will keep Shareholders informed as to its progress over time.

5. Financial effects of the Sale on the Continuing Group

An unaudited pro forma statement of the net assets of the Smiths Group has been prepared for illustrative purposes only to show the effect of the Sale and Share Buyback Programme as if it had completed as at 31 July 2021. This statement is set out in Part VI (*Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Continuing Group*) of this document.

In the financial year ended 31 July 2021, the Smiths Medical Group contributed revenue of £849 million (equivalent to \$1,152 million) and headline EBITDA of £177 million (equivalent to \$240 million) to the Smiths Group as a discontinued operation, and in the year has capitalised £23 million of research and development costs under the Smiths Group's accounting policy in accordance with IFRS, which would have been charged to the income statement under US generally accepted accounting principles. Following Completion, the Continuing Group will no longer receive the contribution that Smiths Medical currently makes to the headline EBITDA of the Smiths Group. The Smiths Medical business contributed 26 per cent. of the Smiths Group total revenues (including discontinued operations) and 28 per cent. of the Smiths Group total net assets (including discontinued operations) as 31 July 2021 and 40 per cent. of the Smiths Group total net assets (including discontinued operations) as 31 July 2021.

Dividend policy

Smiths currently operates a progressive dividend policy, which aims to increase dividends per share in line with long-term underlying growth in earnings and cash flow, with the objective of maintaining minimum dividend cover of around 2 times. The Board intends to maintain this policy following the Sale.

Smiths' shareholding in ICU Medical via the Consideration Shares

Following Completion, the earnings of the Smiths Group will reduce as a result of the Sale. This is expected to be partially offset by any contributions and/or distributions from the Smiths Group's 10 per cent. interest in the Purchaser via the Consideration Shares.

6. Information on Smiths Medical

Smiths Medical is a leading manufacturer and supplier of specialist medical equipment and single-use devices, whose purpose is to save and improve the lives of millions of patients globally.

Smiths Medical's products fall into three main segments:

- *Infusion Systems*: includes products that deliver fluids and medication for pain management and the treatment of acute and chronic diseases for use in both hospital and home settings;
- *Vascular Access:* includes devices that allow healthcare workers to deliver fluids and medication to patients or to obtain blood samples from patients; and

• *Vital Care and Speciality products:* comprises devices to manage patients' airways, and systems to maintain patients' body temperature before, during and after surgery.

Smiths Medical has a direct legal presence in 28 countries and sells its products in more than 100 countries. While the US is Smiths Medical's largest single market, with 48 per cent. of revenue in the year ended 31 July 2021, Smiths Medical continues to build its presence in developed and emerging markets. Smiths Medical is headquartered in Minneapolis, Minnesota, in the United States.

Trading results for Smiths Medical

The trade, assets and liabilities of the Smiths Medical business are held by SM2020, which is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Smiths.

As at 31 July 2021, the Smiths Medical Group had consolidated net assets of £960 million (equivalent to \$1,334 million) and consolidated gross assets of £1,243 million (equivalent to \$1,728 million) (extracted without material adjustment from the historical financial information of Smiths Medical as at 31 July 2021 as set out in Part V (*Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical*) of this document). In the financial year ended 31 July 2021, Smiths Medical generated revenues of £849 million (equivalent to \$1,152 million) and headline EBITDA of £177 million (equivalent to \$240 million) and in the year has capitalised £23 million of research and development costs under the Smiths Group's accounting policy in accordance with IFRS, which would have been charged to the income statement under US generally accepted accounting principles.

A detailed summary of the trading results of Smiths Medical for the three years ended 31 July 2021, together with the net asset statement as at 31 July 2021 is set out in Part V (*Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical*) of this document and a summary of ongoing FDA related remediation actions is set out in Section 9.2 of Part VII (*Additional Information*) of this document. Shareholders should read the whole of this document and not just rely on the summarised financial information set out in this letter.

7. Information on ICU Medical

ICU Medical is a leading infusion therapy company with global operations and a wide-ranging product portfolio that includes IV solutions, IV smart pumps with pain management and safety software technology, dedicated and nondedicated IV sets and needle-free connectors designed to help meet clinical, safety and workflow goals. In addition, ICU Medical manufactures automated pharmacy IV compounding systems with workflow technology, closed system transfer devices for preparing and administering hazardous IV drugs, and cardiac monitoring systems for critically ill patients.

Headquartered in San Clemente, California, USA, ICU Medical was founded in 1984. The company's primary customers are acute care hospitals, wholesalers, ambulatory clinics and alternate site facilities, such as outpatient clinics, home health care providers, and long-term care facilities. Since inception, ICU Medical has grown organically and through acquisition, and currently serves customers in more than 90 countries around the world.

8. Information on the Continuing Group and future strategy

Following Completion, the Continuing Group will be a more focused industrial technology company with compelling growth opportunities, a common operating model and shared purpose. The Smiths Group actively manages its portfolio of businesses to ensure that they are targeted in growing markets where they can achieve a sustainable leading position. Smiths' businesses share the same characteristics: technology differentiation; increasing digitisation; sustainably competitive; and a high proportion of recurring revenues generated by aftermarket and services. Smiths drives sustained competitive advantage through focused deployment of technology, innovation and investment, creating long-term partnerships with customers, attracting and retaining the best talent, and focuses performance execution through its shared operating model. The Continuing Group expects to benefit from applying an integrated approach to technology development, especially digital innovation, where Smiths' businesses can share and apply common solutions. This is underpinned by a strong financial framework that allows the Continuing Group to fund new purpose-led growth.

The Continuing Group's businesses are:

- *John Crane*: rotating equipment solutions, including mechanical seals, seal support systems, power transmission couplings, specialised filtration systems and digital monitoring to improve efficiency and reliability and reduce the environmental impact of customers' operations;
- *Smiths Detection*: threat detection and screening technologies which protect people and assets in a broad range of markets including aviation, ports & borders, urban security, and defence, and which address customers' security and safety needs to facilitate the efficient movement of people and products;
- *Flex-Tek*: engineered components which support the safe and efficient movement of fluids and gases in a range of industry sectors; and
- *Smiths Interconnect*: advanced, technically differentiated electronic components, subsystems, microwave and radio frequency products that provide reliable, high-speed and secure connectivity and control for demanding applications in the defence, aerospace, communications and industrial markets.

Smiths' recent strategy has been to:

- outperform in its chosen markets, by targeting attractive markets where it can sustainably achieve a top-three leadership position, and maximise growth through organic investment combined with a highly disciplined approach to acquisitions and disposals;
- drive sustainable competitiveness through focused deployment of innovation; attracting and retaining the best talent; and focus execution through the deployment of Smiths' shared operating model and using the Smiths Excellence System;
- focus continuously on investment in R&D and technology to develop innovative and differentiated products and services especially those with a strong digital component;
- create long-term partnerships with customers where technology-based solutions are valued;
- operate within a robust financial framework by focusing the portfolio on sustainably competitive and asset light businesses, delivering profitable growth and managing and investing in the business with strong financial discipline; and
- use sustained investment in operational improvement to drive expansion in gross margins, including the strategic restructuring programme, which has now concluded and has increased the Smiths Group's flexibility and speed.

Following the recent appointment of Paul Keel as Smiths' CEO, Smiths will update the market on the Smiths Group's revised strategy and priorities at a capital markets event to be held on 17 and 18 November 2021.

9. Current trading and prospects

On 28 September 2021 the Company published its results for the year ended 31 July 2021, which are hereby incorporated by reference into this document. Revenue of £2,406 million (equivalent to \$3,264 million) was down 2 per cent. on an underlying basis versus the financial year ended 31 July 2020. The trend improved throughout the year, with a first half underlying decline of 5 per cent., flat in the second half, and a return to growth in the final quarter. This performance was underpinned by market-leading positions and high proportions of aftermarket revenues, with 50 per cent. of revenues coming from aftermarket activities.

The Company delivered strong profit conversion in the financial year ended 31 July 2021, with headline operating profit up 7 per cent. on an underlying basis versus the previous year. Headline operating profit margin increased 140bps on an underlying basis, reflecting the benefits of the strategic restructuring programme and disciplined cost control, and 270bps on a reported basis to 15.5 per cent.

Smiths Medical revenue for the financial year ended 31 July 2021 was down 3 per cent. on an underlying basis. Excluding the one-off, nil-margin revenue generated in the second half of the financial year ended 31 July 2020, from participation in the Ventilator Challenge UK, revenue was flat against the prior year. Revenue was down 8 per cent. on a reported basis, including £39 million of adverse foreign exchange translation.

Smiths Medical headline operating profit of £177 million was up 4 per cent. on an underlying basis, reflecting restructuring actions and cost discipline. Headline operating profit was down 4 per cent. on a reported basis, due to £7 million of adverse foreign exchange and £5 million of higher year-on-year restructuring costs. Headline operating profit margin of 20.8 per cent. was up 110bps on an underlying basis, and 70bps on a reported basis. Headline profit after tax of £134 million increased 5 per cent. on an underlying basis, due to growth in operating profit. On a reported basis headline profit after tax was down 4 per cent. including the adverse foreign exchange and restructuring costs. The difference between statutory and headline profit after tax is £6 million, which includes £18 million of separation costs, £61 million of non-cash impairment charges, offset by £50 million of foreign exchange gain on the intercompany loan with the Continuing Group and £23 million of tax credit on these non-headline items. The non-cash impairment charges comprise £52 million of capitalised development costs, £5 million of specific inventory and £4 million of attributable fixed assets, relating mostly to the Intellifuse Large Volume Pump.

Following a resilient performance in the financial year ended 31 July 2021, Smiths Group has entered the financial year ending 31 July 2022 with good order book momentum. While levels of recovery in our end markets differ and economic uncertainty and supply chain challenges continue, underlying revenue growth rates for the Company are expected to return, in aggregate, to around pre-COVID levels with further operational efficiency benefits and good cash generation.

The Company is increasingly confident about future prospects and its ability to deliver attractive and sustainable value for all of our stakeholders.

10. Share schemes

Participants who are employed by the Smiths Medical Group will, upon Completion, become leavers for the purposes of the Smiths Group Share Schemes. It is intended that participants in the Smiths Group 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan with unvested awards will be treated as good leavers from the plan effective from the date of Completion. Awards will vest according to the normal schedule and performance adjustments applied. The number of shares will be adjusted according to the number of months between the grant of the award and Completion of the transaction within the 36-month performance period. In accordance with the requirements of the relevant tax legislation, Smiths Medical Group participants in the Smiths Group Sharesave Scheme will be entitled to exercise their options over Smiths Shares for a period of six months. Awards granted under the Smiths Group Restricted Stock Plan 2014 to Smiths Medical Group employees will be preserved and vest in accordance with their applicable performance conditions. Other participants in the Smiths Group Share Schemes will continue to participate in those schemes in accordance with their respective terms.

Participants in the Smiths Group Share Schemes who are employed by the Smiths Medical Group will be contacted separately with further details of the impact of the Sale on their outstanding options and awards and any actions they need to take.

11. Pensions

The Smiths Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. Employees of the Smiths Medical Group either currently or have historically participated in some of those pension schemes, including SIPS in the UK and the Smiths Group Pension Plan in the US. With effect on and from 11 November 2020, the Smiths Medical Group ceased to have funding obligations to SIPS and with effect from Completion, the Smiths Medical Group will cease to have funding obligations to the Smiths Group Pension Plan.

Where required, replacement defined contribution pension arrangements, on broadly equivalent terms to existing arrangements, will be established by Smiths Medical for its employees.

12. Risk factors

You should read the whole of this document and not just rely on the summarised information and summarised financial information contained in this letter. In particular, your attention is drawn to the risk factors set out in Part II (*Risk Factors*) of this document which contains a discussion of the risks and uncertainties which you should take into account when considering whether to vote in favour of the Resolutions.

13. General Meeting

The Sale is conditional upon the approval of Shareholders at the General Meeting and a notice convening the General Meeting to be held at 1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding AGM shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021 at Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP, 100 Bishopsgate, EC2P 2SR is set out in Part X (*Notice of General Meeting*) of this document.

In addition, the purpose of the General Meeting is to consider and, if thought fit, approve the Share Buyback Resolution. The Sale is not conditional on the Shareholders approving the Share Buyback Resolution. In the event that the Sale Resolution is passed but the Share Buyback Resolution is not approved by Shareholders, it is the Board's intention to proceed to implement the Sale.

At present, public health guidance and legislation issued by the UK Government in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic would permit public gatherings and travel at the date of the General Meeting. However, given the constantly evolving nature of the COVID-19 pandemic, Smiths will also be offering a facility for Shareholders to follow the General Meeting remotely via a live webcast, should they wish to do so. This can be done by visiting https://web.lumiagm.com. The website will then prompt you to enter the Meeting ID, which is 143-617-863, your unique Shareholder Reference Number (SRN) and your PIN, which is the first two and last two digits of your SRN. These can be found printed on your Form of Proxy. Please note that viewing the General Meeting and submitting questions electronically via the webcast will not constitute formal attendance at, or participation in the business (or quorum) of, the General Meeting by Shareholders, and Shareholders will not be able to vote via the webcast. Because the webcast will not provide for the ability to vote, Shareholders planning to view the webcast should submit their proxies as early as possible appointing the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy. This will ensure that your vote will be counted. For more information on accessing the webcast on the day please refer to page 69 of this document.

Due to the continuing potential health risks from public gatherings because of the COVID-19 pandemic, all Shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy and to give their instructions on how they wish the Chairman of the General Meeting to vote on the Resolutions on their behalf. Shareholders can appoint their proxy by either completing the Form of Proxy and returning it, or submitting their vote online, in accordance with the instructions printed on the Form of Proxy and set out in the Notice of General Meeting at the end of this document.

Any Shareholders planning to attend the General Meeting in person will be required to comply with appropriate COVID-19 precautionary measures. Such measures include a prohibition on guests attending the General Meeting and the maintenance of social distancing between attendees. The Board reserves the right to require any attendees to comply with other measures it reasonably considers necessary to ensure the health and wellbeing of any persons attending the General Meeting.

Smiths will continue to monitor closely the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the latest guidance from the UK government. Should it become necessary or appropriate to revise the current arrangements for the General Meeting, this will be notified to Shareholders on Smiths' website and/or via a Regulatory Information Service.

14. Action to be taken

You will find enclosed with this document a Form of Proxy for use at the General Meeting or any adjournment thereof. It is important that Shareholders have the opportunity to vote and you are requested to complete the Form of Proxy in accordance with the instructions printed on it and return it to the Registrar, Equiniti Limited, at Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA so as to arrive as soon as possible, but in any event so as to be received by no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021, being 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the General Meeting (or, in the case of an adjournment, not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding of the adjourned meeting).

If you hold Smiths Shares in CREST, you may appoint a proxy by completing and transmitting a CREST Proxy Instruction in accordance with the procedures set out in the CREST Manual so that it is received by Smiths' Registrar, Equiniti Limited (CREST Participant ID: RA19) by no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the case of an adjournment, not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding of the adjourned meeting).

Proxy appointments may also be submitted via the internet at www.sharevote.co.uk so that the appointment is received by no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the case of an adjournment, not later

than 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding of the adjourned meeting). Further details of the procedure are set out in the Notice of General Meeting set out in Part X (*Notice of General Meeting*) at the end of this document.

Unless the Form of Proxy, CREST Proxy Instruction or an electronic registration of proxy appointment (as applicable) is received by the relevant date and time specified above, it will be invalid.

Completion and return of the Form of Proxy, the submission of a CREST Proxy Instruction or an electronic registration of a proxy appointment will not preclude you from attending the General Meeting and voting in person if you so wish.

Smiths ADR Holders

Please note that Smiths ADR Holders, in their capacities as such, are not entitled to attend or vote at the General Meeting directly or to appoint proxies to attend or vote on their behalf. In order to attend and vote at the General Meeting, a Smiths ADR Holder can cancel their Smiths ADRs and become a registered holder of Smiths Shares. This entails surrendering their Smiths ADRs in accordance with the terms of the Smiths ADR Deposit Agreement and receiving Smiths Shares in return. As registered shareholders they should then follow the voting instructions for shareholders set out above and ensure that they have voted by proxy (if applicable) so as to be received by no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the case of an adjournment, not later than 48 hours prior to the time fixed for the holding of the adjourned meeting).

Smiths ADR Holders wishing to do this should withdraw their Smiths ADRs in time to permit processing to be completed by the US Depositary and should note that certain fees, expenses and taxes may apply. Smiths ADR Holders who wish to take such action and who hold their Smiths ADRs indirectly must rely on the procedures of the bank, broker, financial institution, administrator or other nominee through which the Smiths ADRs are held.

15. Further information

The expected timetable of principal events for the Sale is set out on page 10 of this document. Further information regarding the terms of the Sale is set out in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document. Further information regarding the Share Buyback Programme is set out in Part IV (Further Information on the Share Buyback Programme) of this document. Shareholders are advised to read the whole of this document and not merely rely on the summarised information set out in this letter.

16. Financial advice

The Board has received financial advice from each of Goldman Sachs, J.P. Morgan Cazenove and Gleacher Shacklock (as Joint Financial Advisers) in relation to the Sale. In providing their financial advice to the Board, the Joint Financial Advisers have relied upon the Board's commercial assessment of the Sale.

17. Recommendation

The Board considers the Sale on the terms as set out in this document and the Share Buyback Programme to be in the best interests of Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Board unanimously recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of the Resolutions at the General Meeting.

The Directors intend to vote in favour of the Resolutions at the General Meeting in respect of their respective individual beneficial holdings of Smiths Shares, being in aggregate 136,325 Smiths Shares representing approximately 0.03 per cent. of the total issued share capital of Smiths as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Yours faithfully,

Sir George Buckley *Chairman*

PART II RISK FACTORS

Shareholders should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all other information in this document before deciding whether to vote in favour of the Resolutions.

The risk factors in this document set out the necessary disclosure in accordance with the Listing Rules, and do not seek to cover all of the material risks which generally affect the Smiths Group. Further information on the material risks which generally affect the Smiths Group is set out in the Company's 2021 Annual Report.

The risks described below represent those known to the Directors as at the date of this document which the Directors consider to be material risks relating to the Sale, as well as material risks to the Continuing Group which result from or will be affected by the Sale. However, these risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing the Smiths Group or which, following Completion, the Continuing Group will face. Additional risks and uncertainties could also have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations, or prospects of the Smiths Group or, following Completion, the Continuing Group. These risks and uncertainties may not exist now or are not currently known to the Directors. Alternatively, they could be currently considered by the Directors to be immaterial or considered by them to be material, but which are not related to or will not be affected by the Sale.

If any or a combination of these risks actually occurs, the business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of the Smiths Group or, following Completion, the Continuing Group could be materially and adversely affected. In such case, the price of Smiths Shares could decline and investors may lose all or part of their investment.

The information given is as at the date of this document and, except as requested by the FCA or required by the Listing Rules or any other applicable law, will not be updated. Any forward-looking statements are made subject to the reservations specified under "Forward-looking statements" at the beginning of this document.

1. Risks relating to the Sale

The Sale may not proceed to Completion

Completion is subject to the approval of the Sale Resolution by Shareholders at the General Meeting and satisfaction or waiver (where applicable) of the Antitrust Conditions, the FDI Conditions and the TA SPA Termination Condition. The processes to obtain the necessary clearances from the relevant Regulatory Authorities in order to satisfy the Antitrust Conditions and the FDI Conditions will be led by the Purchaser. The outcome of those clearances cannot be predicted with certainty in view of the required regulatory clearances.

The Purchaser has agreed to take any and all steps necessary or required in order to obtain clearance by any relevant Regulatory Authority by the Long Stop Date, provided that: (i) if on such date, the Antitrust Conditions and/or the FDI Conditions have not been satisfied, then the Long Stop Date shall be extended to be the date that is fifteen (15) months from the Announcement Date (or such other date as the Parties may agree in writing); and (ii) if on the date falling ten (10) business days prior to such extended Long Stop Date as described in (i), the Antitrust Conditions in so far as they relate to the United States have not been satisfied and are not reasonably likely to be satisfied by such extended Long Stop Date, the Purchaser may serve on the Seller, no later than five (5) business days prior to such extended Long Stop Date, a written notice electing to extend the Long Stop Date by a period of three (3) additional months provided certain criteria are satisfied, and in each such case, the term "Long Stop Date" shall be construed to mean the date as so extended pursuant to (i) or (ii) (as applicable).

Subject to the exclusions referred to below, the steps the Purchaser has agreed to take include (but are not limited to) agreement to any (i) conditions, undertakings, sale, divestment, licence or disposition of any necessary assets or business; (ii) termination of any existing relationships, contractual rights or obligations; and/or (iii) effectuating any other change or restructuring of the Smiths Medical Group or any member of the Purchaser's Group. The Sale and Purchase Agreement provides that the Purchaser will not be required to sell, divest, licence or otherwise dispose of or hold separate the Purchaser's Plum 360TM products (or the associated business and assets).

One of the Antitrust Conditions required the Sale to be subject to the requirements of the HSR Act. The Parties submitted the requisite notification and report forms under the HSR Act on 22 September 2021. The waiting period under the HSR Act expired on 22 October 2021. Neither of the Parties received any inquiries

from the FTC or the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice during the waiting period thereby satisfying the relevant Antitrust Condition relating to the HSR Act. On 22 October 2021, the FTC sent a customary letter to the Parties indicating that, while the waiting period has expired, the FTC reserves its right to take further action with respect to the Sale. This letter is consistent with the HSR Act and the FTC's recently announced practice of sending such letters to parties making filings under the HSR Act.

There can be no assurance that any or all of the remaining Conditions will be satisfied or waived (as applicable) by the relevant Long Stop Date and that the Sale and Purchase Agreement will not then be terminated or the Sale be delayed or not complete at all. However, in such circumstances, ICU Medical has agreed that, if the remaining Antitrust Conditions and/or the FDI Conditions shall not have been satisfied (or, where applicable, waived) or, having satisfied or waived such Conditions (as applicable), the Purchaser fails to proceed to Completion for any other reason, by the relevant Long Stop Date, ICU Medical will pay Smiths a reverse break fee of \$300 million, \$200 million of which will be payable in cash with the balance of \$100 million to be settled by the issuance of new ICU Medical shares to Smiths (with the issuance of such shares not being subject to any lock-up).

Delay in completing the Sale will prolong the period of uncertainty for the Smiths Medical Group, its customers and employees (including members of management). Such delay may also result in the accrual of additional costs to the businesses carried out by the Smiths Group without any of the potential benefits of the Sale having been achieved. In addition, the Smiths Group's management and employees would have spent time in connection with the Sale, which could otherwise have been spent more productively in connection with the other activities of the Smiths Group. If the Sale does not complete, the Company will not receive the cash proceeds from the Sale and the Company will not complete the Share Buyback Programme to the full extent envisaged. Additionally, if the Sale does not complete, the Company will forgo the other benefits of the Sale as detailed in the letter from the Chairman in Part I (*Letter from the Chairman of Smiths*) of this document.

Smiths has also incurred transaction costs in relation to the negotiation of the Sale, and certain of these will be incurred irrespective of whether or not the Sale proceeds. Further information regarding such transaction costs is set out in Part VI (*Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Continuing Group*) of this document.

Exposure to liabilities under the Sale and Purchase Agreement

The Sale and Purchase Agreement contains certain customary warranties and indemnities from the Seller in favour of the Purchaser. The Purchaser has undertaken limited due diligence in connection with the Sale. Although the liability of the Seller under most of the business and commercial warranties is limited to \$1 (with the Purchaser free, should it so wish, to take out warranty and indemnity insurance in respect of any potential claims under those warranties), the Continuing Group retains liability caps. If the Continuing Group should incur liabilities under any of these warranties and indemnities, the limited costs of such liabilities could have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. Further details of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, including the warranties and indemnities and the limitations on the Seller's liability under the warranties and indemnities, are set out in Part III (*Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale*) of this document.

Potential for third party interference with the Sale

The Company might be approached by a third party seeking to make a more favourable offer than that of the Purchaser for the Smiths Medical business and the Directors might consequently be required (in accordance with their fiduciary duties and subject to the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement) to withdraw their recommendation of the Sale Resolution and the Sale.

Claim by Trulli BidCo Limited and Trulli TopCo Limited for alleged breach of the TA Sale and Purchase Agreement

SGIHL is subject to a recently instituted arbitration claim by Trulli Bidco Limited and Trulli TopCo Limited relating to alleged breaches of the TA Sale and Purchase Agreement as a result of SGIHL's entry into the Sale and Purchase Agreement. SGIHL intends to refute these allegations and defend its position vigorously. While the arbitration proceedings are at a preliminary stage and the damages claimed against SGIHL are yet to be properly quantified, Smiths' view is that any award of damages and/or costs which may be made in connection with the claim would not be material. However, notwithstanding Smiths' view of the merit of

the claim, it is ultimately not possible to predict the outcome of the claim as any arbitration process is inherently uncertain, and as such it may be that the quantum of asuccessful claim could have a material adverse effect on the Continuing Group and its financial condition.

A failure by Smiths to deploy the Initial Cash Proceeds effectively could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Continuing Group

At Completion, the Seller will receive the Initial Cash Proceeds. The benefit and value to the Shareholders from the receipt by the Seller of the Initial Cash Proceeds will be dependent on the ability of Smiths to deploy effectively the Initial Cash Proceeds remaining after the repayment of transaction costs. This is currently expected to include the Share Buyback Programme, and the deployment of the Initial Cash Proceeds towards creating a strong balance sheet by reducing Net Debt and to support investment in additional value creating growth opportunities. If the Initial Cash Proceeds are not utilised effectively, there may be a material adverse effect on the Continuing Group and its financial condition.

Rights under the Shareholders' Agreement

The rights of the Seller under the Shareholders' Agreement will reflect the Seller's minority interest in ICU Medical, a company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ. In particular, Smiths shall only have the right to designate one non-executive director to the ICU Medical board and appoint such director to the ICU Medical audit committee for as long as Smiths owns at least five per cent. of the total outstanding shares of ICU Medical Common Stock. As such, Smiths may be unable to prevent Smiths Medical from engaging in activities or pursuing strategic objectives that may conflict with the Continuing Group's interests or overall strategic objectives. ICU Medical may experience financial, operational or other difficulties, any of which may adversely affect the success of Smiths Medical and the Continuing Group's ability to realise returns from the Consideration Shares. There is also a risk that, in the future, a conflict of interest develops between the Continuing Group and Smiths Medical.

In addition, the Seller will be restricted from transferring its Consideration Shares in ICU Medical without the prior written consent of ICU Medical (other than to other members of the Smiths Group) until the six month anniversary of Completion, after which the Seller will be free to transfer its Consideration Shares other than to (i) certain competitors of ICU Medical and (ii) any person who has filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC in respect of Common Stock (provided the restriction in limb (ii) shall not apply if the Seller provides ICU Medical with prior written notice of such intended transfer or otherwise if the transfer is made into the public market pursuant to a bona fide public offering or otherwise in connection with a merger, tender offer or exchange involving ICU Medical). In addition, the Seller shall not be entitled to the Additional Consideration unless it retains beneficial ownership of at least 1.25 million ICU Medical shares, and the ICU Medical share price averages \$300 or more for any 30-day period during the first three years post-Completion, or for any 45-day period in the fourth year post-Completion. Circumstances may therefore arise whereby the Continuing Group wishes to sell its interest in ICU Medical but is restricted by or disincentivised by the terms of the Shareholders' Agreement and/or Sale and Purchase Agreement.

It is uncertain whether the Company will receive any return on the Consideration Shares in ICU Medical

The Consideration Shares form part of the Consideration for the Sale.

The share price of the Consideration Shares (and therefore the value of the Company's interest in the enlarged ICU Medical business) will be affected primarily by the supply and demand for ICU Medical shares and could fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond ICU Medical's (and the Company's) control, including, but not limited to, fluctuations in actual or projected results of operations, changes in projected earnings, or failure to meet securities analysts' earnings expectations, changes in trading volumes in ICU Medical shares, and other factors, any of which could be subject to substantial fluctuations. If ICU Medical's share price or the trading volume in ICU Medical shares decline as a result of the realisation of any or all of these events, the Company could lose part or all of its investment in the Consideration Shares and the Company may not be entitled to receive the Additional Consideration (which is contingent on the ICU Medical share price averaging \$300 or more for any 30-day period during the first three years post-Completion, or for any 45-day period in the fourth year post-Completion).

The Company's return from the Consideration Shares (while it holds them) will primarily be through dividends, buybacks, reductions of capital and other distributions paid by the enlarged ICU Medical business, and the ability of the enlarged ICU Medical business to undertake any of these actions will be

affected by any or all of the events mentioned above. The Company's after-tax return from the Consideration Shares (while it holds them, and on any disposal) may be affected by the tax treatment of such return (or disposal) in its hands.

There is also a risk that the Seller's interest in ICU Medical could be diluted post-Completion, in situations where ICU Medical raises finance via an equity offering in which Smiths does not participate.

Further details of the Consideration Shares are set out in Section 1.2 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

Smiths will have foreign exchange risk related to the proceeds from the Sale

The Initial Cash Proceeds will be received in US dollars. The Company reports its results in Sterling and will carry out the Share Buyback Programme in Sterling. There could be a period of several months between the General Meeting and the Sale becoming unconditional. During this time, other than to the extent the Continuing Group intends to use the proceeds to repay liabilities in US dollars, the Continuing Group will be exposed to the risk of a significant depreciation in the US dollar against Sterling. In addition, any distributions received on the Consideration Shares will be denominated in US dollars and it is expected that any sale of the Consideration Shares would be made in US dollars.

Potential impact on the value of the Smiths Trade Marks and related goodwill

The Company is to grant the Smiths Medical Group continuing rights to use the Smiths Trade Marks post-Completion pursuant to the terms of the Trade Mark Licence Agreement. While the scope of these rights is designed to ensure that the Smiths Medical Group can only use the Smiths Trade Marks following Completion in a similar manner to their current use, and the Trade Mark Licence Agreement contains customary quality control and other brand protection provisions that are designed to protect the value and reputation of the Smiths Trade Marks, breach by SM2020 of the terms of the Trade Mark Licence Agreement could lead to damage to the Smiths Trade Marks and result in a reduction in their value and that of their associated goodwill. The Trade Mark Licence Agreement seeks to minimise the likelihood, and mitigate the impact, of any misuse of the Smiths Trade Marks by granting the Company a right to terminate the agreement in the event that SM2020 is subject to an insolvency event, or the Product Licence in relation to a particular jurisdiction or line of products in the event that any member of the Smiths Medical Group uses the Smiths Trade Marks outside the scope of the Product Licence, or there is a material breach by SM2020 of the quality control provisions contained in the Trade Mark Licence Agreement, in relation to that jurisdiction or those products that is not capable of remedy or that is not remedied within 60 days, and through SM2020 indemnifying the Smiths Group on an unlimited basis for losses arising from the Smiths Medical Group's or SM2020's sub-licensees use of the Smiths Trade Marks in breach of the Trade Mark Licence Agreement. Despite this, as the Smiths Trade Marks are relied upon to varying degrees by the Continuing Group, use by the Smiths Medical Group of the Smiths Trade Marks in such a way that materially damages the Smiths Trade Marks or their reputation could adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Continuing Group.

Business separation may take longer than expected and unexpected additional costs could be incurred

The process of separating Smiths Medical from the Continuing Group will be largely complete by Completion. Any key operational activities that are not able to be transferred prior to Completion will be supported by the Continuing Group for a period following Completion through the provision of services to the Smiths Medical Group under the Transitional Services Agreement. These services principally consist of the on-going provision of IT services, as well as access to certain HR systems and corporate services such as tax and treasury management. During the period of the Transitional Services Agreement, the Smiths Medical Group will be reliant on the Continuing Group for the provision of these services and the Purchaser and the Continuing Group will work together to effect the separation of the business systems and transfer of the associated services. It may take some time for Smiths Medical and the Purchaser to procure the necessary resources and services and ensure that all processes are operating fully and efficiently. There is a risk that the establishment of these capabilities may take longer than expected. The Continuing Group could incur unexpected additional costs as a result of fulfilment of its obligations under the Transitional Services Agreement which it may be unable to pass on to the Purchaser and which could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. The Company's management may be required to allocate time and resources to ensure that the Continuing Group's obligations under the Transitional Services Agreement are fulfilled. This may limit the management and financial resources available to the Continuing Group, potentially to the detriment of the Continuing Group's overall operational and financial performance.

Further details of the Transitional Services Agreement are set out in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

Pre-Completion changes in the Company

During the period from the signing of the Sale and Purchase Agreement to Completion, events or developments may occur, including changes in trading, operations or outlook of the Continuing Group or the Smiths Medical Group, or external market factors, which could make the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement less attractive for the Company. This includes the continuing impact of the COVID-19 global health pandemic on the Smiths Medical Group and the Continuing Group. The Company would be obliged to complete the Sale notwithstanding such events or developments. This may have an adverse effect on the Continuing Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The pensions regulator in the United Kingdom (the "Pensions Regulator") has the statutory power in certain circumstances to issue contribution notices or financial support directions that, if issued, could result in significant additional liabilities arising or an acceleration in the payment of liabilities for the Smiths Group in relation to SIPS and TIGPS

The Pensions Regulator has the power, in certain circumstances, to issue contribution notices and/or financial support directions requiring the Smiths Group and/or any connected or associated company to fund any deficit in relation to its two UK defined benefit pension schemes, SIPS and/or TIGPS. These are commonly referred to as "moral hazard" powers and enable the Pensions Regulator to take action if it considers it is reasonable to do so, including where corporate activity (such as the Sale) has had a materially detrimental effect on the security of members' benefits under SIPS or TIGPS. Any exercise of the Pensions Regulator's powers could result in significant additional liabilities arising or an acceleration in the payment of liabilities for the Smiths Group towards SIPS and TIGPS. In addition, the Pension Schemes Act 2021 has introduced new criminal offences for "risking accrued scheme benefits" (where a person engages in an act that they knew or ought to have known would have a materially detrimental impact on a defined benefit pension scheme) and for "avoidance of employer debt" (where a person acts in a way that prevents the recovery of any employer debt which is due to a defined benefit pension scheme or otherwise compromises or settles such a debt), in each case, without "reasonable excuse".

SIPS and TIGPS are both well-funded on the basis of a prudent set of financial assumptions. The Smiths Group has considered whether the Sale and/or the Share Buyback Programme would have a materially detrimental impact on SIPS and TIGPS and, having sought professional advice, does not consider this to be the case. In line with UK practice, the Smiths Group is engaged in ongoing discussions with the trustees of SIPS and TIGPS in relation to the Sale and the Share Buyback Programme. The trustees of SIPS and TIGPS are under an ongoing duty to monitor the strength of the financial support provided to the schemes by the Smiths Group and to consider what (if any) further support may be required to be provided. They will continue to consider the impact of the Sale and the Share Buyback Programme as part of this ongoing monitoring.

Other risks of the Sale

Other risks that may arise out of the Sale include disruption caused to the Continuing Group as a direct or indirect result of the Sale and other transaction costs and use of management time, which could all adversely affect the Continuing Group's financial condition and operating results.

2. Risks related to the Sale not proceeding

Inability to realise Shareholder value

The Board believes that the Sale is in the best interests of Shareholders taken as a whole and that it currently provides the best opportunity to realise an attractive value for Smiths Medical. If the Sale does not complete, the Company's ability to deliver equivalent or additional tangible value to Shareholders may be delayed or prejudiced (including, for the avoidance of doubt, its ability to complete the Share Buyback Programme).

There can be no assurance that there will be a future sale transaction of the Smiths Medical Group

If the Sale does not proceed, there can be no guarantee that opportunities will arise for a future sale or other separation of the Smiths Medical business at an equivalent value or that, as a result, the Smiths Group

will be able to realise the benefits of operating as a distinct and legally separate group with its own strategic, operational and economic characteristics.

Potentially disruptive effect on the Smiths Group

If the Sale does not proceed, this may lead to management, employee, customer and supplier distraction and concern due to perceived uncertainty as regards the future ownership of Smiths Medical which may have an adverse effect on the performance of Smiths Medical and therefore its value to the Smiths Group. To maintain Shareholder value, the Company's management may be required to allocate additional time and cost to the ongoing supervision and development of Smiths Medical.

There may be an adverse impact on the Company's reputation

If the Sale does not proceed, there may be an adverse impact on the reputation of the Company as a result of increased publicity and media scrutiny arising in connection with the attempted Sale. This may be the case even where the failure to implement the Sale is due to factors outside the control of the Smiths Group. Any such reputational risk could adversely affect the Smiths Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

3. Risks related to the Continuing Group

The Continuing Group will be a more focused group

Following the Sale, the operations of the Continuing Group will no longer include the companies and assets that comprise the Smiths Medical business. The Continuing Group will have less sectoral diversity and may therefore be more susceptible to adverse developments in the markets in which the remaining businesses operate. The impact of fluctuations in the end-use markets of the Continuing Group's businesses may be heightened following the Sale and may have an adverse effect on the Continuing Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Reduced income stream

Following Completion, the Continuing Group will no longer receive the contribution that the Smiths Medical Group currently makes to the headline EBITDA of the Smiths Group. For the financial year ended 31 July 2021, the Smiths Medical Group contributed revenue of £849 million (equivalent to \$1,152 million) and headline EBITDA of £177 million (equivalent to \$240 million) which represented 26 per cent. and 28 per cent. of the Smiths Group total revenues and total headline EBITDA (including discontinued operations) respectively for that financial year. The Smiths Medical Group capitalised £23 million of research and development costs in the financial year, under the Smiths Group's accounting policy in accordance with IFRS, which would have been charged to the income statement under US generally accepted accounting principles. Following the Sale, the Continuing Group will also seek to eliminate costs previously associated with charges to the Smiths Medical Group. If the elimination of these costs is not achieved, this would further reduce the Continuing Group's headline EBITDA. Following Completion, the Continuing Group's reduced income stream may increase its cost of borrowing and/or make it more difficult for the Continuing Group to obtain financing or may have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Continuing Group. The reduced income stream may also affect the Continuing Group's ability to pay dividends in the future. The Board intends to return £742 million (equivalent to \$1.02 billion) of the Initial Cash Proceeds to Shareholders.

The market price of the Continuing Group shares may go down as well as up following Completion

Shareholders should be aware that the value of an investment in the Continuing Group following Completion may go down as well as up and can be volatile. The price at which the Smiths Shares may be quoted and the price which investors may realise for their Smiths Shares following Completion will be influenced by a large number of factors. Some of these factors are specific to the Continuing Group and its operations and some may affect the industries in which the Continuing Group operates as a whole or other comparable companies or publicly traded companies generally. The sentiments of the stock market regarding the Sale will be one such factor. Other factors which could lead to the market price of Smiths Shares following Completion going up or down will include:

• the actual or anticipated fluctuations in the financial performance of the Continuing Group and its competitors;

- market fluctuations (including in respect of interest rates);
- the political, legal and economic ramifications of the UK's withdrawal from the EU and/or other (geo)political events;
- the continuing impact of the COVID-19 global health pandemic; and
- legislative or regulatory changes in the industries in which the Continuing Group operates or generally those affecting consumers.

Smiths may be a PFIC for US federal income tax purposes

A non-US corporation, such as Smiths, will be treated as a "passive foreign investment company" or "**PFIC**", for U.S. federal income tax purposes if, in the case of any particular taxable year, either (i) 75 per cent. or more of its gross income for such year consists of certain types of "passive" income or (ii) 50 per cent. or more of the value of its assets (generally determined on the basis of a quarterly average) during such year is attributable to assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income. Based on its current and expected income and assets, including goodwill, Smiths does not presently expect to be or become a PFIC for the current taxable year or the foreseeable future.

However, because PFIC status is a factual determination made annually after the close of each taxable year on the basis of the composition of a non-US corporation's income and assets, there can be no assurance that Smiths will not be a PFIC for the current taxable year or any future taxable year. Smiths' PFIC status may depend on how long the cash proceeds of the sale of Smiths Medical are retained and the value of the Smiths Shares.

US Holders are advised to consult their tax advisers regarding the application of the PFIC rules to any of the Company's subsidiaries. Each US Holder is advised to consult its tax adviser regarding the potential tax consequences to such holder if the Company is or becomes classified as a PFIC.

PART III SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SALE

1. SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

1.1 **Parties and structure**

On 27 September 2021, the Seller and the Purchaser entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Seller agreed, on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, to sell its entire shareholding in SM2020 to the Purchaser.

1.2 Consideration

The consideration for the purchase of the entire issued share capital of SM2020 is:

- the Cash Consideration;
- the Daily Payment Amount;
- the Consideration Shares; and
- the Additional Consideration (the Cash Consideration, the Daily Payment Amount, the Consideration Shares and the Additional Consideration together, being the "Consideration").

Immediately following Completion, the Purchaser will fund the repayment of a 1,124 million loan from a subsidiary of SM2020 in favour of SGIHL (the "SGIHL Loan Repayment"). Accordingly, the total Initial Cash Proceeds (excluding the Daily Payment Amount) received in respect of the Sale are expected to be 1.85 billion (equivalent to 1.35 billion), comprising 1,921 million of cash payments upon or immediately following Completion (being the sum of the Cash Consideration and the SGIHL Loan Repayment) minus approximately 72 million of cash expected to be transferred with Smiths Medical including the repayment of any amounts due from Smiths Group to Smiths Medical as a result of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

The Consideration has been agreed on the basis of a "locked box" closing mechanism using a set of audited accounts drawn up as at 31 July 2020 (the "Locked Box Date"). Accordingly, the Sale and Purchase Agreement contains certain customary restrictions which apply for the period from the Locked Box Date to Completion to prevent unapproved value being transferred from the Smiths Medical Group to the Continuing Group in that period, subject to certain customary and limited exceptions.

1.3 **Conditions to Completion**

Completion is conditional on, amongst other things:

- A. the passing of the Sale Resolution by Shareholders (the "Shareholder Approval Condition");
- B. insofar as the United States Department of Justice Antitrust Division or the United States Federal Trade Commission considers the Sale to fall within the scope of the Sherman Act, as amended; the Clayton Act, as amended; the HSR Act; the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended; and all other federal and state statutes, rules, regulations, orders, decrees, administrative and judicial doctrines, and other laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolisation or restraint of trade, merger control clearance having been received from either the United States Department of Justice Antitrust Division or the United States Federal Trade Commission or any appropriate waiting periods (including any extensions) having expired, lapsed or been terminated (as appropriate), and in respect of jurisdictions in which the Purchaser has determined merger control approvals are mandatory outside the United States, merger control clearance having been received from the Regulatory Authorities or any appropriate waiting periods (including any extensions) having expired, lapsed or been terminated (as appropriate), and in respect of jurisdictions in which the Purchaser has determined merger control approvals are mandatory outside the United States, merger control clearance having been received from the Regulatory Authorities or any appropriate waiting periods (including any extensions) having expired, lapsed or been terminated (the "Antitrust Conditions"); and
- C. (i) where a Public Interest Intervention Notice has been issued under section 42 of the UK Enterprise Act 2002 ("Enterprise Act") or a Special Public Interest Intervention Notice has been issued under section 59 of the Enterprise Act prior to the date of Completion, either (A) revocation of the relevant Intervention Notice; and/or (B) all decisions and approvals necessary to clear the Sale and to permit the Sale and any matters arising therefrom to proceed (and, to the extent relevant, all conditions or obligations contained in such decisions and approvals necessary for the Sale to close having been satisfied or complied with) having been issued;

- (ii) (A) where the UK National Security and Investment Act 2021 ("NS&I Act") is fully in force at the date of Completion, or (under applicable legislation or statutory instrument or order) is due to be brought fully into force on or prior to the date that is expected to be the date of Completion), and, pursuant to the NS&I Act, the Sale constitutes a notifiable acquisition in respect of which notice must be given to the UK Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (the "Secretary of State") before such notifiable acquisition is completed, a notification having been accepted and: (a) the Secretary of State confirming that no further action will be taken in relation to the Sale under the NS&I Act; or (b) if the Secretary of State issues a call-in notice under the NS&I Act in relation to the Sale ("Call-In Notice"): (i) the Purchaser receiving a final notification that no further action in relation to the Call-In Notice is to be taken under the NS&I Act; or (ii) the Secretary of State making a final order in relation to the Sale under the NS&I Act which permits the Sale to be completed subject to the provisions of such final order (and, to the extent relevant, all conditions, provisions or obligations contained in such final order necessary for completion of the Sale having been satisfied or complied with); or (B) where the NS&I Act is not (under applicable legislation or statutory instrument or order) due to be brought fully into force on or prior to the date that is expected to be the date of Completion and HM Government has not previously issued a Public Interest Intervention Notice under section 42 of the Enterprise Act in respect of the national security consideration or a Special Public Interest Intervention Notice under section 59 of the Enterprise Act, on the Secretary of State not having expressly informed the Purchaser in writing (but excluding any such communication that has been withdrawn or resolved) that the Sale is likely to give rise to concerns such that the Secretary of State will issue a call-in notice under the NS&I Act following the NS&I Act coming fully into force; and
- (iii) in Austria, France, Germany, Italy and Spain, insofar as the Sale falls within the scope of a Regulatory Authority's statutes, rules, regulations, orders, decrees, administrative and judicial doctrines, and other laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict, or regulate foreign investment in that Regulatory Authority's jurisdiction, clearance having been received from that Regulatory Authority or any appropriate waiting periods (including any extensions) or investigations having expired, lapsed or been terminated (the "FDI Conditions").

In respect of the Antitrust Conditions and the FDI Conditions, the Purchaser has agreed to take any and all steps necessary or required in order to obtain clearance by any relevant Regulatory Authority by the Long Stop Date, provided that: (i) if on such date, the Antitrust Conditions and/or the FDI Conditions have not been satisfied, then the Long Stop Date shall be extended to be the date that is fifteen (15) months from the Announcement Date (or such other date as the Parties may agree in writing); and (ii) if on the date falling ten (10) business days prior to such extended Long Stop Date as described in (i), the Antitrust Conditions in so far as they relate to the United States have not been satisfied and are not reasonably likely to be satisfied by such extended Long Stop Date, a written notice electing to extend the Long Stop Date by a period of three (3) additional months provided certain criteria are satisfied, and in each such case, the term "Long Stop Date" shall be construed to mean the date as so extended pursuant to (i) or (ii) (as applicable).

Subject to the exclusions referred to below, the steps the Purchaser has agreed to take include (but are not limited to) agreement to any (i) conditions, undertakings, sale, divestment, licence or disposition of any necessary assets or business; (ii) termination of any existing relationships, contractual rights or obligations; and/or (iii) effectuating any other change or restructuring of the Smiths Medical Group or any member of the Purchaser's Group. The Sale and Purchase Agreement provides that the Purchaser will not be required to sell, divest, licence or otherwise dispose of or hold separate the Purchaser's Plum 360TM products (or the associated business and assets).

One of the Antitrust Conditions required the Sale to be subject to the requirements of the HSR Act. The Parties submitted the requisite notification and report forms under the HSR Act on 22 September 2021. The waiting period under the HSR Act expired on 22 October 2021. Neither of the Parties received any inquiries from the FTC or the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice during the waiting period thereby satisfying the relevant Antitrust Condition relating to the HSR Act. On 22 October 2021, the FTC sent a customary letter to the Parties indicating that, while the waiting period has expired, the FTC reserves its

right to take further action with respect to the Sale. This letter is consistent with the HSR Act and the FTC's recently announced practice of sending such letters to parties making filings under the HSR Act.

If any of the remaining Conditions are not satisfied by the relevant Long Stop Date, then either the Seller or the Purchaser may elect to terminate the Sale and Purchase Agreement. ICU Medical has further agreed that, if the remaining Antitrust Conditions and/or the FDI Conditions are not satisfied (or, where applicable, waived) or, having satisfied or waived such conditions (as applicable), the Purchaser fails to proceed to Completion for any other reason, by the relevant Long Stop Date, ICU Medical will pay Smiths a reverse break fee of \$300 million, \$200 million of which will be payable in cash with the balance of \$100 million to be settled by the issuance of new ICU Medical shares to Smiths (with the issuance of such shares not being subject to any lock-up). Smiths is not required to pay any break fee in the event that the Sale does not complete.

In the case of the Shareholder Approval Condition, the Seller has agreed that this document will be sent to Shareholders within 40 business days of the date of the Sale and Purchase Agreement (which it has done so) and that, subject to the fiduciary duties of the Directors, the Directors will recommend and continue to recommend to the Shareholders the passing of the Sale Resolution.

1.4 Warranties, indemnities and limitations on liability

The Seller has given warranties to the Purchaser which are customary for a transaction of this nature. These include, among other things, warranties in respect of its capacity to enter into and perform the Sale and Purchase Agreement, title to the shares in SM2020, related party transactions, accounts and financial matters, events since the Locked Box Date, contracts, material litigation and investigations, the existence of product liability insurance, insolvency, matters relating to employees, compliance with laws, intellectual property, data protection, health and safety, pensions, real estate matters, the environment and taxation.

The liability of the Seller under most of the business and commercial warranties is limited to \$1 (with the Purchaser free, should it so wish, to take out warranty and indemnity insurance in respect of any potential claims under those warranties).

Certain fundamental warranties and key business warranties are subject to customary liability caps. The fundamental warranties cover the Seller's authority to sell, its ownership of its shareholding in SM2020, and the structure of the Smiths Medical Group (the "Fundamental Warranties"). The key business warranties cover export controls and sanctions, events since the Locked Box Date, related party transactions, the existence of product liability insurance, material litigation and investigations, insolvency, pensions and taxation (the "Preferential Warranties").

The Seller has also given a customary tax covenant in favour of the Purchaser which covers any taxation in respect of the period prior to Completion, subject to usual exclusions for a transaction of this nature.

The Sale and Purchase Agreement contains certain customary financial limitations, time limitations and other limitations and exclusions on the ability of the Purchaser to claim against the Seller for breach of warranty or other breach of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, or under the tax covenant. The total aggregate liability of the Seller for breach of the Preferential Warranties or under the tax covenant, will not exceed \$150 million. The total aggregate liability of the Seller for all other claims under the Sale and Purchase Agreement, including any claim in respect of Fundamental Warranties, will not exceed 100 per cent. of the Consideration.

Nothing in the Sale and Purchase Agreement limits the Seller's liability for fraud.

1.5 Conduct of the Smiths Medical business prior to Completion

The Seller has agreed, subject to certain limited exceptions, that the business of Smiths Medical will be carried on in the ordinary course up to Completion and has given a number of specific undertakings to the Purchaser regarding the conduct of the business and affairs of the Smiths Medical Group during such period.

1.6 **Completion deliverables**

At Completion, the Seller and the Purchaser are obliged to deliver certain customary documents in order to implement the transfer of the shares of SM2020.

1.7 Non-compete and non-solicit undertaking

The Seller has given an undertaking to the Purchaser that, subject to certain exceptions (including the Continuing Group's ability to carry on its business as it is currently operated), it and the other members of the Continuing Group will not, directly or indirectly, for a period of 36 months from Completion, carry on or be engaged, concerned or interested in any business that competes with the business of the Smiths Medical Group.

The Seller has also given an undertaking to the Purchaser that, subject to customary exceptions, it and the other members of the Seller's Group will not, directly or indirectly, for a period of 24 months from Completion solicit any person who is or was employed as a director or senior manager by any member of the Smiths Medical Group.

1.8 **Purchaser non-solicit undertaking**

The Purchaser has given an undertaking to the Seller that, subject to customary exceptions, it and the other members of its group will not, directly or indirectly, for a period of 36 months from Completion solicit any person who is or was employed as a director or senior manager by any member of the Seller's Group.

1.9 Purchaser representations, warranties, undertakings and limitations on liability

The Purchaser has given warranties to the Seller in respect of, among other things, its power and ability to enter into the Sale and Purchase Agreement (and the other documents being entered into in connection with the Sale and Purchase Agreement) and its financing. In addition, the Purchaser has given customary warranties to the Seller in respect of the Consideration Shares, including that, when issued and allotted in accordance with the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Consideration Shares will be validly issued, free and clear of all encumbrances.

The Sale and Purchase Agreement contains certain customary financial limitations, time limitations and other limitations and exclusions on the ability of the Seller to claim against the Purchaser for breach of any of the warranties given by the Purchaser. The total aggregate liability of the Purchaser for breach of the warranties given by the Purchaser, will not exceed \$75 million.

1.10 Termination

The Sale and Purchase Agreement shall only terminate if any Condition has not been fulfilled or waived by the relevant Long Stop Date and either the Seller or the Purchaser gives notice to the other to terminate.

1.11 Governing law and jurisdiction

The Sale and Purchase Agreement is governed by English law. Any disputes arising under the Sale and Purchase Agreement are to be settled by arbitration in accordance with the rules of the London Court of International Arbitration. The seat of arbitration shall be London.

2. SHAREHOLDERS' AGREEMENT

2.1 **Parties and term**

A Shareholders' Agreement will be put in place at Completion to govern the relationship between SGIHL and ICU Medical in respect of the Consideration Shares to be held by SGIHL. The Shareholders' Agreement will apply to SGIHL for so long as it holds any Consideration Shares.

2.2 **Board representation**

SGIHL will be entitled to appoint one non-executive director to the board of directors of ICU Medical (for so long as its interest does not fall below five per cent. of the total outstanding shares of ICU Medical Common Stock), with ICU Medical entitled to appoint a majority of the directors. The directors will have equal voting rights in respect of board matters.

2.3 **Restrictions on transfers of shares**

SGIHL will be restricted from transferring its Consideration Shares without the prior written consent of ICU Medical (other than to other members of the Smiths Group) until the six month anniversary of Completion, after which the Seller will be free to transfer its Consideration Shares other than to (i) certain competitors of ICU Medical and (ii) any person who has filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC in respect of Common Stock

(provided the restriction in limb (ii) shall not apply if the Seller provides ICU Medical with prior written notice of such intended transfer or otherwise if the transfer is made into the public market pursuant to a bona fide public offering or otherwise in connection with a merger, tender offer or exchange involving ICU Medical.

2.4 Governing law and jurisdiction

The Shareholders' Agreement is governed by the laws of the state of Delaware. Any disputes arising under the Shareholders' Agreement are to be submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or, to the extent the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have subject matter jurisdiction, the federal courts of the United States of America for the District of Delaware.

3. TRANSITIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

3.1 Transitional Services

In connection with the Sale, BIS (a Smiths Group company) and SM2020 will enter into a Transitional Services Agreement ("**TSA**") on Completion, pursuant to which BIS will provide or procure the provision of certain services to the Smiths Medical Group on a transitional basis and SM2020 will provide, or procure the provision of, limited tax support to the Continuing Group.

The key services to be provided under the TSA are: (i) IT services (principally the continued access for the Smiths Medical Group to shared IT systems and the provision of related support services); (ii) HR services (principally the continued access for the Smiths Medical Group to certain HR systems and the provision of related services, together with the provision of other general HR services and continued provision of certain health and welfare benefits to Smiths Medical Group employees); (iii) corporate services (including treasury management); (iv) tax services (collectively, the "**Run Services**"); (v) certain services to assist with IT transformation of the Smiths Medical Group (the "**IT Transformation Services**"); and (vi) certain services to support the transition of the Smiths Medical Group to replacement systems and services (the "**Transition Services**"). The service terms vary for each of the Run Services, with an initial duration of no longer than 12 months from Completion, which SM2020 is able to extend for most of the Run Services if certain conditions are satisfied and subject to the payment by SM2020 of an uplift to the service fees where the TSA is extended beyond a term of 12 months. The TSA will not contain detailed service levels, but in line with market practice, will require the services to generally be provided to a standard that is substantially consistent with the standard provided in the 12 months prior to Completion.

3.2 **Term and termination**

Unless terminated earlier, the TSA will remain in force until the later of: (i) the expiry of the longest of the service terms for the Run Services; (ii) the expiry of the tax support to be provided to Smiths; and (iii) the completion of the IT Transformation Services and the Transition Services. The TSA may be terminated by either party immediately on the occurrence of an insolvency event in relation to the other party or on the material breach of the other party that (if capable of remedy) is not remedied within 14 days (in the case of a breach by SM2020), and 30 days (in the case of a breach by BIS), of a notice to do so from the non-breaching party. BIS may also terminate for SM2020's non-payment of undisputed fees by the due date, which is not cured within 14 days of a payment reminder notice from BIS. BIS can also choose to exercise its breach termination rights in respect of a particular service only.

SM2020 has the right to terminate any service early on 30 days' written notice to BIS, subject to certain conditions, and BIS's obligation to provide the relevant service will terminate at the end of the 30-day notice period.

3.3 Transition plan

The TSA will provide that the parties will work together to develop a transition plan as soon as is reasonably practicable following Completion, which will set out the Smiths Medical Group's requirements for the transition of the Smiths Medical Group to a replacement set of services and systems, as well as the milestones, Continuing Group support and other activities required to facilitate that transition. The scope of the Transition Services needed to achieve this transition in line with the transition plan will be agreed in separate statements of work.

3.4 Charges

The service fees for the IT Run Services are made up of a base monthly flat fee, together with other fees calculated on an "as used" time basis by reference to an agreed rate card and certain third party and other charges. For all other Run Services the service fees are as stated in the applicable schedules. In all cases, certain other costs and expenses (including where there is an extension of the service term and a related fee uplift) may also be charged to arrive at the total charges for the Run Services. At the end of each month after Completion, there will be a service fee review meeting at which the service fees for the Run Services may be adjusted in accordance with an agreed set of principles to reflect the termination or expiry of any Run Services in the preceding month. Certain stranded costs are also payable by SM2020 in the event of termination, expiry or removal of a service, for example, where costs are already incurred by BIS and cannot be reimbursed on the termination, expiry or removal of a Service.

The charges for the IT Transformation Services and the Transition Services will be set out in the applicable statement of work, but will generally be calculated by reference to the agreed rate card or charged on a pass-through basis.

3.5 Liability

The maximum liability of BIS and SM2020 under or in connection with the TSA will be £5 million. Several categories of loss, including loss of profits and revenues, loss resulting from loss or corruption of data, loss of opportunity and anticipated savings are excluded from this limitation of liability for both parties.

These limitations do not apply to certain losses, where liability is unlimited, including liability for either party to pay the charges, fraud or death or personal injury caused by the other party's negligence and, in respect of certain indemnities given by SM2020 in favour of BIS.

4. TRADE MARK LICENCE AGREEMENT

Following Completion, the Smiths Medical Group will require rights to use the Smiths Trade Marks for a certain period. Accordingly, in connection with the Sale, SM2020, as licensee and Smiths, as licensor, will enter into the TMLA, pursuant to which the Smiths Medical Group will be granted two licences to continue using the Smiths Trade Marks. Both of these licences will be non-exclusive, worldwide and non-transferable, but sub-licensable in limited circumstances, such as to other members of the Smiths Medical Group or the Purchaser group. All use by the Smiths Medical Group of the Smiths Trade Marks will be subject to the customary quality control and other brand protection provisions that are contained in the TMLA.

4.1 Licences

Under the TMLA, Smiths will grant licences to the Smiths Medical Group to use (i) "Smiths" in the corporate names of Smiths Medical Group members where required by medical device laws; (ii) the Smiths Trade Marks on existing medical device and veterinary products and pipeline medical device and veterinary products in development prior to 17 February 2021 and related materials ((i) and (ii) together, the "**Product Licence**"); and (iii) the Smiths Trade Marks as otherwise currently used in the business of the Smiths Medical Group (the "**Run-off Licence**"). The Product Licence is designed to facilitate the Smiths Medical Group's transition from compliance with the Medical Devices Directive to compliance with the Medical Devices Regulation in the EU and will, therefore, permit the Smiths Medical Group to manufacture the relevant products until 26 May 2025 and then to sell them: (a) in the EEA until 27 May 2025; and (b) outside the EEA, until the earlier of 1 July 2026 (as that date may be extended by SM2020 for two separate successive six month periods by providing 90 days' notice to Smiths) and the date on which the relevant regulatory approval for their commercialisation in a particular territory ceases to exist.

The Product Licence will be royalty-free until 27 November 2025 and then royalty bearing for the remainder of its term. The royalties for the Product Licence will be in the form of flat fees of: (i) one million US dollars payable by SM2020 for the period of 28 November 2025 to 1 July 2026, and (ii) seven million US dollars payable by SM2020 for each six-month period post 1 July 2026 during which the Smiths Medical Group has extended its rights to continue to sell the relevant products outside the EEA. The Run-off Licence will be granted for 18 months post-Completion with the option for SM2020 to extend its term following that period for two successive six month periods by providing 90 days' prior notice to Smiths. The first 18 months of the term of the Run-off Licence will be on a royalty-free basis and the remainder subject to the payment of royalties, calculated on 1.75 per cent. of the Smiths Medical Group's US net sales and 1 per cent. of the Smiths Medical Group's rest of the world net sales.
4.2 Termination

Unless terminated earlier, the TMLA will remain in force until the expiry of the Product Licence. Smiths has the right to terminate the TMLA on the occurrence of an insolvency event in relation to SM2020. Smiths also has the right to terminate the Product Licence in relation to a particular jurisdiction or line of products if SM2020 uses the Smiths Trade Marks outside the scope of the Product Licence, or commits a material breach of the quality control provisions in the TMLA, with respect to that jurisdiction or those products, which in each case (if capable of remedy) is not remedied within 60 days of a notice to do so from Smiths. SM2020 may terminate the TMLA for convenience on one month's prior written notice to Smiths. Where Smiths terminates the TMLA or the Product Licence, SM2020 benefits from a 180-day period to sell-off already manufactured products.

4.3 Liability

SM2020 indemnifies the members of the Smiths Group on an unlimited basis for losses that they suffer or incur arising from: (i) SM2020's or its sub-licensees breach of the TMLA; (ii) any use of the licensed trade marks by the licensee or its sub-licensees; and (iii) from any product liability claims.

PART IV FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE SHARE BUYBACK PROGRAMME

The Board intends to return an amount representing 55 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, being £742 million (equivalent to \$1.02 billion) to Shareholders via a Share Buyback Programme. The Board considered a number of methods for returning value to Shareholders and concluded that the Share Buyback Programme would be the most appropriate method.

The Share Buyback Programme is expected to be completed within two years of Completion, subject to market conditions.

The commencement of the Share Buyback Programme will be announced separately and the Company will keep Shareholders informed as to its progress over time.

It is expected that the Share Buyback Programme will involve the on-market purchase of Smiths Shares. Pursuant to the Share Buyback Resolution, the maximum number of Smiths Shares that can be bought back is 59,435,913 Smiths Shares, representing 14.99 per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of Smiths at the Latest Practicable Date. The maximum price (exclusive of expenses) Smiths can pay for each Smiths Share is the higher of:

- (a) an amount equal to 105 per cent. of the average middle market quotation for a Smiths Share, as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, for the five business days prior to the day on which the Smiths Share is purchased; and
- (b) an amount equal to the higher of the price of the last independent trade of a Smiths Share and the highest current independent bid for a Smiths Share on the trading venue where the purchase is carried out.

The minimum price (exclusive of expenses) Smiths can pay for each Smiths Share is the nominal value of each Smiths Share (being 37.5 pence).

Any Smiths Shares bought back pursuant to the Share Buyback Resolution can be cancelled or held in treasury. Treasury shares can be cancelled by Smiths, sold for cash or used for the purposes of an employee share scheme. No dividends are paid on shares held as treasury shares and they do not have any voting rights.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the total number of options over Smiths Shares was 4,279,053 (representing approximately 1.08 per cent. of Smiths' issued share capital as at the Latest Practicable Date and approximately 1.27 per cent. of Smiths' issued share capital if the full authority proposed by the Share Buyback Resolution was used and the Smiths Shares purchased were cancelled). Smiths currently has no shares in treasury.

The authority under the Share Buyback Resolution will remain in force until 31 July 2024. This authority shall be in substitution for and will supersede any previous general authorities conferred on the Company (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any general authority conferred on the Company by Shareholders at the AGM), and, for previous authorities, is without prejudice to any market purchases already made or agreed to be made pursuant to such authorities.

PART V HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO **SMITHS MEDICAL**

The historical financial information relating to the Smiths Medical Group in this Part V (Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical) for the financial years ended 31 July 2019, 2020 and 2021 has been extracted without material adjustment from the consolidation schedules used in preparing the Smiths Group's audited consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31 July 2019, 2020 and 2021. The financial information in this Part V (Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical) for the financial years ended 31 July 2019, 2020 and 2021 has been prepared in accordance with the IFRS accounting policies adopted in the Smiths Group's consolidated financial statements for each of the financial periods presented. The financial information reflects, therefore, Smiths Medical's contribution to the Smiths Group during the periods presented, applying the relevant Smiths Group accounting policies and presented net of Smiths Group inter-company eliminations. The income statements and the net asset statement set out below are unaudited.

The financial information contained in this Part V (Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical) does not constitute statutory accounts within the meaning of section 434 of the Companies Act 2006. The audited consolidated statutory accounts of the Smiths Group in respect of the years ended 31 July 2019 and 2020 have been delivered to the Registrar of Companies, and in respect of the year ended 31 July 2021, will be delivered after the AGM. The auditors' reports in respect of those statutory accounts for the three years ended 31 July 2021 were unqualified and did not contain statements under section 498(2) or (3) of the Companies Act 2006. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was the auditor of the Smiths Group in respect of the statutory accounts for the year ended 31 July 2019 and KPMG LLP was the auditor of the Smiths Group in respect of the statutory accounts for the two years ended 31 July 2020 and 31 July 2021.

Shareholders should read the whole of this document and not rely solely on the summarised financial information in this Part V (Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical).

Financial Information

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020 Year ended 31 July 2019 Non-Non-Non-Headline headline Total Headline headline Total Headline headline Total £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 849 918 918 874 849 Revenue (734) Operating costs (672)(79)(751)(23) (757) (727)4 (723)**Operating profit** 177 (79) 98 184 (23)161 147 4 49 Finance costs (1)50 (4)62 58 (3) (38)Profit / (loss) before taxation 176 (29) 147 180 39 219 144 (34) 22 Taxation 23 (19)(41)(32) (42)(19)7 128 139 61 200 112 134 (6) (27)Profit for the year

874

151

(41)

110

(25)

85

1. Unaudited income statement information for Smiths Medical

Notes:

- The income statements presented above have been extracted without material adjustment from the consolidation schedules used in 1. preparing the audited consolidated financial statements of the Smiths Group as at 31 July 2019, 31 July 2020 and 31 July 2021, which were prepared under IFRS.
- In the year ended 31 July 2019 operating profit was stated after charging £40 million of depreciation and amortisation. Smiths Medical was 2. classified as a discontinued operation and a business held for distribution to owners in July 2019. As a result of this classification no depreciation or amortisation has been charged on Smiths Medical assets after 1 August 2019.
- In the year ended 31 July 2021 non-headline operating costs included a £61 million impairment charge for capitalised development costs and related programme assets.

2. Unaudited net asset statement for Smiths Medical as at 31 July 2021

	As at 31 July 2021
	£m
Gross assets for Smiths Medical Group	
Intangible assets	669
Property, plant and equipment	162
Right of use assets	63
Financial assets – other investments	14
Inventories	145
Deferred tax assets	12
Current tax receivable	3
Trade and other receivables	123
Cash and cash equivalents	48
Financial derivatives	4
Total assets	1,243
Gross liabilities for Smiths Medical Group	
Financial liabilities	
 Lease liabilities Financial derivatives 	(44)
	(2)
Trade and other payables Current tax payable	(161)
Deferred tax liabilities	(13) (51)
Retirement benefit obligations	(51)
Provisions for liabilities and charges	(7)
Trovisions for nationales and charges	(7)
Total liabilities	(283)
Net assets	960

Notes:

1. The net asset statement presented above has been extracted without material adjustment from the consolidation schedules used in preparing the audited consolidated financial statements of the Smiths Group as at 31 July 2021, which were prepared under IFRS.

PART VI UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CONTINUING GROUP

Section A: Unaudited pro forma financial information of the Continuing Group

The unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the Continuing Group as at 31 July 2021 (the "**unaudited pro forma financial information**") set out below has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the Sale and the Share Buyback Programme on the consolidated net assets of the Smiths Group as at 31 July 2021, as if the proposed Sale and the Share Buyback Programme had been completed on that date.

The Continuing Group unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and, because of its nature, addresses a hypothetical situation. It does not, therefore, represent the Continuing Group's actual net assets, financial position or results. It may not, therefore, give a true picture of the Continuing Group's net assets, financial position or results nor is it indicative of the results and financial position that may or may not be expected to be achieved in the future.

The unaudited pro forma financial information of the Continuing Group is based on the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Smiths Group as at 31 July 2021. It has been prepared in accordance with the IFRS accounting policies adopted in the Smiths Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2021, on the basis set out in the notes below and in accordance with the requirements of Listing Rule 13.3.3R and sections 1 and 2 of Annex 20 to the UK version of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018.

The unaudited pro forma financial information of the Continuing Group does not constitute a financial statement within the meaning of section 434 of the Companies Act 2006. Shareholders should read the whole document and not rely solely on the pro forma financial information contained in this Part VI (*Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Continuing Group*).

KPMG's report on the unaudited pro forma financial information is set out in Section B of this Part VI (Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Continuing Group).

Unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the Continuing Group

	Smiths Group as at 31 July 2021 £m	Smiths Medical net assets adjustments as at 31 July 2021 £m	Sale adjustments £m	Share Buyback Programme adjustments £m	Continuing Group pro forma as at 31 July 2021 £m
	(note 1)	(note 2)	(note 3)	(note 4)	
Non-current assets Intangible assets Property, plant and equipment Right of use assets Interest in associate and other investments Retirement benefit assets Deferred tax assets Trade and other receivables Financial derivatives ⁽¹⁾	1,498 212 108 11 546 92 59 75		414		1,498 212 108 425 546 92 59 75
Commenter	2,601	_	414	—	3,015
Current assets Inventories Current tax receivable Trade and other receivables Cash and cash equivalents ⁽¹⁾ – financial derivatives Assets held for distribution to owners	381 75 630 405 2 1,243	(1,243)	1,322	(742)	381 75 630 985 2
	2,736	(1,243)	1,322	(742)	2,073
Total assets	5,337	(1,243)	1,736	(742)	5,088
Current liabilities Financial liabilities – borrowings ⁽¹⁾ – lease liabilities ⁽¹⁾ – financial derivatives Provisions for liabilities and charges Trade and other payables Current tax payable Liabilities held for distribution to owners	(9) (27) (3) (46) (530) (89) (283)				(9) (27) (3) (46) (530) (89) —
	(987)	283			(704)
Non-current liabilities Financial liabilities ⁽¹⁾ Provisions for liabilities and charges Retirement benefit obligations Corporation tax payable Deferred tax liabilities Trade and other payables	(1,466) (241) (128) (5) (28) (59)				(1,466) (241) (128) (5) (28) (59)
	(1,927)				(1,927)
Total liabilities	(2,914)	283			(2,631)
Net assets	2,423	(960)	1,736	(742)	2,457
Supplementary information					
Net Debt ⁽¹⁾	(1,022)		1,322	(742)	(442)

Notes:

^{1.} The net assets relating to the Smiths Group have been extracted without material adjustment from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Smiths Group as at 31 July 2021, which were prepared under IFRS.

Smiths Group Net Debt supplementing the statement of net assets has been extracted without material adjustment from Note 18 of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Smiths Group as at 31 July 2021, and is calculated as the total of all balances marked as (1) in the net assets statement.

Net Debt is defined by the Smiths Group as total borrowings (bank, bonds and lease liabilities) less cash balances and derivatives used to manage the interest rate risk and currency profile of the debt.

Note: The financial derivatives in current assets and liabilities are foreign currency forward contracts that are not used to manage the currency profile of borrowings, and therefore are not part of Net Debt.

- 2. This adjustment relates to the separation of Smiths Medical from the Smiths Group by way of the Sale and removes the assets and liabilities of the Smiths Medical Group, which were extracted without material adjustment from the historical financial information of the Smiths Medical Group as at 31 July 2021 contained in Part V (*Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical*).
- 3. This adjustment reflects:
 - the receipt of the Cash Consideration of £580 million (\$797 million) by the Smiths Group;
 - the receipt of the SGIHL Loan Repayment of £819 million (\$1,124 million) owed by SM2020 to the Smiths Group;
 - the anticipated SM2020 cash balance at Completion leaving the Smiths Group (including the repayment of any amounts due from Smiths Group to SM2020 as a result of the Sale and Purchase Agreement). Given the extended timing for Completion, the actual cash balance may vary from this estimate depending on the performance of Smiths Medical over the relevant period;
 - the cash payment of £25 million (\$34 million) for estimated transaction costs inclusive of VAT to be incurred post 31 July 2021; and
 - the investment in 2.5 million new shares, equivalent to approximately 10 per cent. of the total outstanding shares of ICU Medical Common Stock, at a fair value of £414 million (\$568 million).

All USD amounts have been converted using the GBP:USD exchange rate as at the Latest Practicable Date. The fair value of the ICU Medical shares has been calculated using the closing share price on the Latest Practicable Date.

The pro-forma net assets adjustments do not take account of the Daily Payment Amount nor Additional Consideration which may be receivable, given their uncertain nature.

- 4. This adjustment assumes a return of an amount representing 55 per cent. of the Initial Cash Proceeds, being £742 million (equivalent to \$1,020 million) to Shareholders by way of a Share Buyback Programme.
- 5. No account has been taken of any trading or results of the Smiths Group or Smiths Medical since 31 July 2021.
- 6. This unaudited pro forma statement of consolidated net assets does not constitute financial statements within the meaning of section 434 of the Companies Act 2006.

Section B: Accountants' Report on the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Continuing Group



KPMG LLP Advisory 15 Canada Square London E14 5GL United Kingdom Tel +44 (0) 20 7311 1000 Fax +44 (0) 20 7311 3311

The Directors Smiths Group plc 4th Floor, 11-12 St. James Square London, SW1Y 4LB

29 October 2021

Ladies and Gentlemen

Smiths Group plc

We report on the pro forma financial information (the 'Pro forma financial information') set out in Part VI of the Class 1 circular dated 29 October 2021. This report is required by paragraph 13.3.3R of the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority and is given for the purpose of complying with that paragraph and for no other purpose.

Opinion

In our opinion:

- the Pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and
- such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of Smiths Group plc.

Responsibilities

It is the responsibility of the directors of Smiths Group plc to prepare the Pro forma financial information in accordance with paragraph 13.3.3R of the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by Section 3 of Annex 20 of the UK version of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980, as to the proper compilation of the Pro forma financial information and to report that opinion to you.

In providing this opinion we are not updating or refreshing any reports or opinions previously made by us on any financial information used in the compilation of the Pro forma financial information, nor do we accept responsibility for such reports or opinions beyond that owed to those to whom those reports or opinions were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.

Save for any responsibility which we may have to those persons to whom this report is expressly addressed and which we may have to ordinary shareholders as a result of the inclusion of this report in the Class 1 circular, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any responsibility and will not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Listing Rule 13.4.1R(6), consenting to its inclusion in the Class 1 circular.

KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.



Basis of Preparation

The pro forma financial information has been prepared on the basis described in the notes, for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about how the disposal by Smiths Group plc of Smiths Medical 2020 Limited and the Share Buyback Programme might have affected the financial information presented on the basis of the accounting policies adopted by Smiths Group plc in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2021.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Financial Reporting Council in the United Kingdom (the 'FRC'). We are independent, and have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements of the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to Investment Circular Reporting Engagements.

The work that we performed for the purpose of making this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial information, consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Pro forma financial information with the directors of Smiths Group plc.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we considered necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of Smiths Group plc.

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally accepted in the United States of America and accordingly should not be relied upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with those standards and practices.

Yours faithfully

KPMG LLP

PART VII ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. **RESPONSIBILITY**

Each of Smiths and the Directors whose names are set out in Section 3 of this Part VII (*Additional Information*) accept responsibility for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge and belief of each of Smiths and the Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

2. SMITHS INFORMATION

Smiths Group plc was incorporated and registered on 15 July 1914 under the Companies Acts 1908 and 1913 with the name of S. Smiths & Sons (Motor Accessories) Limited. The name was changed on 2 May 1944 to S. Smiths & Sons (England) Limited and to Smiths Industries Limited on 31 December 1965. Smiths was registered as a public limited company under the Companies Act 1948 on 2 July 1981 and changed its name on 30 November 2000 to Smiths Group plc.

It was incorporated with limited liability in England and Wales and operates as a public limited company under the Companies Act 2006, with registered number 00137013.

Smiths' principal and registered office is at 4th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB and the telephone number of its registered office is 020 7004 1600.

The principal laws and legislation under which Smiths operates are the Companies Act 2006 and the regulations made thereunder.

3. DIRECTORS

The Directors of Smiths and their respective functions are as follows:

Name

Position

Sir George Buckley	(Chairman)
Paul Keel	(Chief Executive)
John Shipsey	(Chief Financial Officer)
William Seeger Jr.	(Senior Independent Director)
Pam Cheng	(Non-Executive Director)
Dame Ann Dowling	(Non-Executive Director)
Tanya Fratto	(Non-Executive Director)
Karin Hoeing	(Non-Executive Director)
Mark Seligman	(Non-Executive Director)
Noel Tata	(Non-Executive Director)

4. DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY

4.1 Holdings in Smiths Shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests of the Directors and any persons connected with them, within the meaning of Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006, in Smiths Shares were as follows:

	Number of Smiths Shares	Percentage of existing issued share capital (%)
Directors		
Sir George Buckley	24,053	0.0061
Paul Keel	25,000	0.0063
John Shipsey	54,959	0.0139
William Seeger Jr.	10,000	0.0025
Pam Cheng	3,000	0.0008
Dame Ann Dowling	5,813	0.0015
Tanya Fratto	1,500	0.0004
Karin Hoeing	_	_
Mark Seligman	6,000	0.0015
Noel Tata	6,000	0.0015

4.2 **Other interests**

Details of options and awards over Smiths Shares held by the Directors are set out below. These options and awards are not included in the interests of the Directors shown in the table above.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the following options and awards over Smiths Shares have been granted to certain Directors:

Smiths Group 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP")

No. of					
Name	Date of Award	Smiths Shares	Performance Test	Exercise Price	Expiry Date
Paul Keel	28/09/2021	141,059	В	n/a	Oct 2023
John Shipsey	3/10/2019	95,837	А	n/a	Oct 2022
	4/11/2020	95,837	В	n/a	Oct 2023

Smiths Group Deferred Bonus Plan 2016

No. of					
Name	Date of Award	Smiths Shares	Performance Test	Exercise Price	Expiry Date
John Shipsey	31/10/2018	6,393		n/a	Nov 2021
	3/10/2019	6,933	_	n/a	Oct 2022
	4/11/2020	3,406	—	n/a	Oct 2023

Smiths Group Sharesave Scheme

No. of					
Name	Date of Award	Smiths Shares	Performance Test	Exercise Price	Exercise Period
John Shipsey	20/5/2020	1,969		914p	1/8/2023 - 1/2/2024

Performance Tests:

- A LTIP awards in 2018 and 2019 25 per cent. subject to EPS; 20 per cent. subject to ROCE; 25 per cent. subject to cash conversion; 30 per cent. subject to organic sales growth.
- B LTIP awards in 2020 25 per cent. subject to EPS; 25 per cent. subject to organic growth; 25 per cent. subject to free cash flow; 25 per cent. subject to ROCE.
- C LTIP awards in 2021 20 per cent., subject to EPS; 30% per cent. subject to organic growth; 20 per cent. subject to free cash flow; 15 per cent. subject to ROCE; 15 per cent. subject to GHG emissions.
- There are no performance criteria for the Deferred Bonus awards or SAYE.

5. DIRECTORS' SERVICE AGREEMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

Key details on the terms of the Directors' service contracts and letters of appointment providing for benefits upon termination of employment are summarised below. Except where appointed at a general meeting, Directors stand for election by shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting following appointment. In accordance with the Company's articles of association all Directors who are willing to continue in office retire and stand for re-election by the Shareholders each year at the Company's Annual General Meeting.

Smiths has entered into a qualifying third-party indemnity with each of the Directors. The Smiths Group also has appropriate directors' and officers' liability insurance in place in respect of the Directors.

5.1 **Executive Directors: Service contracts**

Paul Keel is employed under a service contract with the Company dated 29 May 2021 and effective from 25 May 2021. John Shipsey is employed under a service contract with the Company dated and effective from 18 October 2017. He became an Executive Director on 1 January 2018.

The service contracts for both Executive Directors may be terminated by 12 months' notice given by the Company or six months' notice given by the Director. Paul Keel is paid a base salary of £875,000. John Shipsey is paid a base salary of £553,750. The Company may elect to terminate each contract by making a payment in lieu of notice equal to the Executive Director's base salary and benefits (including pension

allowance) in respect of any unserved period of notice. The service contracts contain specific provisions enabling a reduction in any phased payments in lieu of notice, if the Executive Director finds alternative employment during the notice period. The Executive Directors may be entitled to annual bonus and share awards in respect of any part of their notice period that they serve.

5.2 Non-Executive Directors: Letters of appointment

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors serve the Company under letters of appointment and do not have service contracts. Either party can terminate the appointment on one month's written notice and no compensation is payable in the event of an appointment being terminated early.

Data of

Non-Executive Director	Appointment
Sir George Buckley	1 August 2013
William Seeger Jr.	12 May 2014
Pam Cheng	1 March 2020
Dame Ann Dowling	19 September 2018
Tanya Fratto	1 July 2012
Karin Hoeing	2 April 2020
Mark Seligman	16 May 2016
Noel Tata	1 January 2017

6. SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets out the name of each person who is directly, or indirectly, interested in voting rights representing three per cent. or more of the total voting rights in respect of the Company's issued share capital as at the Latest Practicable Date, insofar as it is known to the Company by virtue of notifications made to it pursuant to Chapter 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules or otherwise.

		Percentage of existing issued share capital as at the date Smiths had been notified in
Name	Number of voting rights over Smiths Shares	accordance with the DTRs
BlackRock, Inc.	23.3 million	5.9
Ameriprise Financial, Inc.	20.8 million	5.3
Artemis Investment Management LLP	19.8 million	5.0
Harris Associates L.P.	19.7 million	5.0
Dodge & Cox	19.8 million	4.9
Jupiter Asset Management	14.8 million	3.8

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions that Smiths has entered into are set out below:

- during the financial year ended 31 July 2019, such transactions are disclosed, in accordance with IFRS, in note 7 on page 160 of Smiths' 2019 Annual Report and Financial Statements which is hereby incorporated by reference into this document;
- during the financial year ended 31 July 2020, such transactions are disclosed, in accordance with IFRS, in note 7 on page 169 of Smiths' 2020 Annual Report and Financial Statements which is hereby incorporated by reference into this document;
- during the financial year ended 31 July 2021, such transactions are disclosed, in accordance with IFRS, in note 7 on page 168 of Smiths' 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements which is hereby incorporated by reference into this document; and

• during the period between 1 August 2021 and the Latest Practicable Date, there were no new related party transactions save as follows in respect of key management compensation:

Key management compensation	1 August 2021 pro-rata to the Latest Practicable Date 27/10/2021 £m
Salaries and short-term employee benefits Cost of post-retirement benefits Cost of share-based incentive plans	2.7 0.1 0.7
	3.5

8. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

8.1 The Continuing Group

No contracts have been entered into (other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) by any member of the Continuing Group either: (i) within the period of two years immediately preceding the date of this document, which are or may be material to the Continuing Group; or (ii) at any time, which contain any provisions under which any member of the Continuing Group has an obligation or entitlement which is or may be material to the Continuing Group as at the date of this document, save as discussed below.

Sale and Purchase Agreement

A summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Sale and Purchase Agreement is set out in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

Shareholders' Agreement

A summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Shareholders' Agreement is set out in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

Transitional Services Agreement

A summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Transitional Services Agreement is set out in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

Trade Mark Licence Agreement

A summary of the principal terms and conditions of the Trade Mark Licence Agreement is set out in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document.

TA Sale and Purchase Agreement

A summary of the principal terms and conditions of the TA Sale and Purchase Agreement is set out in Part III (*Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale*) of the TA Circular, which is hereby incorporated by reference into this document.

The TA Sale and Purchase Agreement shall terminate if any condition (including obtaining the approval of Smiths' shareholders) has not been fulfilled or waived by the long stop date (as defined in the TA Circular) and either the Seller or Trulli Bidco Limited gives notice to the other party to terminate.

Royal Metal Member Interest Purchase Agreement

On 16 February 2021, Flex-Tek Group (US) LLC ("Flex-Tek Group"), a subsidiary of the Smiths Group in the Flex-Tek division, entered into a member interest purchase agreement (the "MIPA") with Royal Metal Holdings, Inc ("Royal Metal Holdings") pursuant to which Flex-Tek Group purchased all of the outstanding member units of Royal Metal Products, LLC ("Royal Metal") from Royal Metal Holdings for a provisional cash consideration of \$107 million, subject to post-completion adjustment. Royal Metal is a manufacturer of

metal duct products and flexible ducting used in commercial and residential construction, mainly in the South Eastern states of the US. Signing and completion took place simultaneously on 16 February 2021.

The MIPA contains customary representations and warranties given by Royal Metal Holdings and Royal Metal to Flex-Tek Group including, without limitation, with respect to title, capacity and authority, finance and accounts, liabilities, employment, litigation, material contracts and major customers and suppliers.

Pursuant to the MIPA, Royal Metal Holdings and its controlling shareholder agreed jointly and severally to indemnify Flex-Tek Group with respect to certain losses, subject to customary limitations. Such losses include, amongst others, those arising out of or resulting from any inaccuracy in or breach of the representations and warranties given by Royal Metal Holdings or Royal Metal, or any breach by Royal Metal Holdings of any covenant or obligation. In connection with the MIPA, Flex-Tek Group procured representation and warranties insurance policy cover against losses arising from breach of the representations of the R&W Insurance Policy"), subject to the terms and limitations of the R&W Insurance Policy. The term of the R&W Insurance Policy is three years from the completion date for general representations and warranties and six years from the completion date for fundamental representations) shall be to an indemnity escrow amount held pursuant to an escrow agreement, and to the R&W Insurance Policy. In addition, indemnification in respect of fundamental representations is capped at \$100 million minus any indemnification amounts paid pursuant to the escrow arrangement.

The agreement is governed by Delaware law.

8.2 The Smiths Medical Group

No contracts have been entered into (other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) by or on behalf of the Smiths Medical Group, either: (i) within the period of two years immediately preceding the date of this document, which are or may be material to the Smiths Medical Group; or (ii) at any time, which contain any provisions under which the Smiths Medical Group has an obligation or entitlement which is or may be material as at the date of this document, save as discussed below.

Transitional Services Agreement

Please see the summary of the Transitional Services Agreement above in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale).

Trade Mark Licence Agreement

Please see the summary of the Trade Mark Licence Agreement above in Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale).

Technology Investment Agreement

On 11 July 2020, Smiths Medical ASD. Inc. ("Smiths Medical ASD"), a Smiths Medical Group subsidiary, entered into a technology investment agreement (the "Technology Investment Agreement") with the United States of America, Department of Defense on behalf of the Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority ("BARDA"). Pursuant to the Technology Investment Agreement, BARDA will invest \$20.6 million in Smiths Medical, to be used to expand capacity and production operations at the Smiths Medical facility in Keene, New Hampshire, for the production of integrated hypodermic needle and syringe products to support the US government's COVID-19 vaccination efforts.

The partnership pursuant to the Technology Investment Agreement is intended to increase the Smiths Medical Group's needle and syringe production capacity by up to 125 million units per year. The US federal government will have priority access to this expanded capacity for public health emergencies.

Merger Agreement

On 20 April 2021, Smiths Medical ASD entered into an agreement and plan of merger (as amended, restated or supplemented from time to time, the "Merger Agreement") with, among others, Izoard Sub, Inc. ("Izoard Sub"), a subsidiary of Smiths Medical ASD, and Ivenix, Inc., a medical technology company that develops solutions to transform patient infusion delivery ("Ivenix"). Closing of the Merger Agreement was subject to Smiths Medical ASD serving notice to Ivenix (the "Closing Notice") of its intention to consummate the acquisition of Ivenix, which notice was exercisable at Smiths Medical ASD's sole and

absolute discretion. The parties to the Merger Agreement have on 26 October 2021 agreed to terminate the Merger Agreement.

Simultaneously with the execution of the Merger Agreement and as a material inducement for Ivenix to enter into the Merger Agreement, Ivenix and Smiths Medical ASD entered into a note purchase agreement, which provided necessary capital for Ivenix to finance ongoing operations and pursuant to which (i) Smiths Medical ASD agreed, subject to certain terms and conditions contained therein, to invest in Ivenix an amount equivalent to approximately \$19 million (comprising (a) \$15 million in cash and (b) the rollover of approximately \$4 million of principal plus interest from an existing convertible promissory note held by Smiths Medical ASD in Ivenix) in consideration for a secured convertible note in Ivenix (the "First Tranche Note") and (ii) Smiths Medical ASD obtained the option to invest an additional \$21 million in cash in consideration for an additional secured convertible note in Ivenix (the "Second Tranche Note") by providing notice no more than one hundred and eighty (180) days following the consummation of the funding of the First Tranche Note, which occurred on 21 April 2021. Smiths Medical has not served notice to find the Second Tranche Note within the requisite time and therefore the option to fund the Second Tranche Note has lapsed and the First Tranche Note has automatically become a general unsecured obligation of Ivenix. Accordingly, at Ivenix's next equity financing, the First Tranche Note shall convert to a class of preferred stock ("Pari Passu Preferred Stock") that are identical in all respects to the class of preferred stock (the "New Preferred Stock") issued at such equity financing except that the Pari Passu Preferred Stock shall be non-convertible and non-voting (provided further that, if Ivenix provides Smiths Medical ASD with a pro rata right to participate in such equity financing and Smiths Medical ASD declines to exercise such right, then the First Tranche Notes shall convert to a class of preferred stock that are junior in priority of liquidation only to the New Preferred Stock and are non-convertible and not-voting, but are otherwise identical to the New Preferred Stock).

9. LITIGATION

9.1 **The Continuing Group**

Except as set out in this Section 9.1, there are no, nor have there been any, governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (nor is the Company aware of any such proceedings which are pending or threatened) during the 12 months immediately prior to the date of this document, which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Continuing Group.

(a) John Crane, Inc. litigation

John Crane, Inc. ("JCI"), a subsidiary of the Smiths Group, is one of many co-defendants in numerous lawsuits pending in the United States in which plaintiffs are claiming damages arising from alleged exposure to, or use of, products previously manufactured which contained asbestos. Until 2006, the awards, the related interest and all material defence costs were met directly by insurers. In 2007, JCI secured the commutation of certain insurance policies in respect of product liability. Provision is made in respect of the expected costs of defending known and predicted future claims and of adverse judgments in relation thereto, to the extent that such costs can be reliably estimated.

The JCI products generally referred to in these cases consist of industrial sealing product, primarily packing and gaskets. The asbestos was encapsulated within these products in such a manner that causes JCI to believe, based on tests conducted on its behalf, that the products were safe. JCI ceased manufacturing products containing asbestos in 1985.

JCI continues to actively monitor the conduct and effect of its current and expected asbestos litigation, including the effective presentation of its "safe product" defence, and intends to resist asbestos cases based on this defence. The JCI claims experience over the last 40 years shows that, as at 31 July 2021, approximately 305,000 claims against JCI have been dismissed before trial. As at 31 July 2021, JCI was a defendant in cases involving approximately 22,000 claims and cumulative final judgments, after appeals, had been made against JCI since 1979 in 149 cases with cumulative awards amounting to approximately \$175 million. JCI has also incurred significant additional defence costs. The litigation involves claims for a number of allegedly asbestos-related diseases, with awards, when made, for mesothelioma tending to be larger than those for the other diseases. JCI's ability to defend mesothelioma cases successfully is, therefore, likely to have a significant impact on its annual aggregate adverse judgment and defence costs.

At 31 July 2021, the aggregate provision for JCI asbestos litigation, including for adverse judgments and defence costs, amounted to £212 million expressed at the applicable period-end exchange rate. The provision is based on past history of JCI claims and well-established tables of asbestos-related disease incidence

projections. The provision is determined using advice from asbestos valuation experts. The assumptions made in assessing the appropriate level of provision include: the period over which the expenditure can be reliably estimated; the future trend of legal costs; the rate of future claims filed; the rate of successful resolution of claims; and the average amount of judgments awarded. The provision utilised in the period is lower than previous periods, principally due to court closures and trial delays arising from the COVID-19 pandemic.

The provision may be subject to potentially material revision from time to time if new claims arise and/or new information becomes available as a result of future events. There can be no guarantee that the assumptions used to estimate the provision will result in an accurate prediction of the actual costs that may be incurred because of the significant uncertainty associated with the future level of asbestos claims, the success or otherwise of current and future claims, and the costs arising out of related litigation. As such, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the exact claim amounts and liability and cost of this litigation are not quantifiable.

(b) Titeflex Corporation litigation

Titeflex Corporation, a subsidiary of the Smiths Group in the Flex-Tek division, has received a number of claims in the United States from insurance companies seeking recompense on a subrogated basis for the effects of damage allegedly caused by lightning strikes in relation to its flexible gas piping product. It has also received product liability claims regarding this product in the United States, some in the form of purported class actions. Titeflex Corporation sells flexible gas piping with extensive installation and safety guidance designed to assure the safety of the product and minimise the risk of damage associated with lightning strikes. Titeflex Corporation believes that its products are a safe and effective means of delivering gas when installed in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions and local and national codes. However, some claims have been settled on an individual basis without admission of liability. Equivalent third-party products in the US market-place face similar challenges.

The continuing progress of claims and the pattern of settlement, together with recent market-place activity, provide sufficient evidence to recognise a liability in the accounts. At 31 July 2021, a provision of £47 million has been made for the costs which the Smiths Group expects to incur in respect of these claims to the extent that such costs can be reliably estimated. The assumptions made in assessing the appropriate level of provision, which are based on past experience, include: the period over which the expenditure can be reliably estimated; the number of future settlements; the average amount of settlements; and the impact of statutes of repose and safe installation initiatives on the expected number of future claims. The assumptions relating to the number of future settlements exclude the use of recent claims history due to the uncertain impact that the COVID-19 lockdown has had on the number of claims.

The significant uncertainty associated with the future level of claims, the success or otherwise of current and future claims, and of the costs arising out of related litigation means that there can be no guarantee that the assumptions used to estimate the provision will result in an accurate prediction of the actual costs that may be incurred. Therefore, the provision may be subject to potentially material revision from time to time, if new claims arise and/or new information becomes available as a result of future events. As such, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the exact claim amounts and liability and cost of these claims are not quantifiable.

9.2 The Smiths Medical Group

Other than the US Food and Drug Administration (the "**FDA**") matter discussed below, there are no, nor have there been any, governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (nor is the Company aware of any such proceedings which are pending or threatened) during the 12 months immediately prior to the date of this document, which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Smiths Medical Group.

In June 2020, the Smiths Medical Group initiated what was ultimately classified as a Class I recall of certain Medfusion® 3500 and 4000 syringe pumps with specific firmware versions due to a software error (the "June 2020 Recall"). Following the Smiths Medical Group's June 2020 Recall, the FDA initiated an inspection at the Smiths Medical Group's Minneapolis, Minnesota site. As a result of, and at the conclusion of the inspection, the FDA issued its observations (the "Form 483") and provided discussion items on 30 April 2021 to the Smiths Medical Group's Minneapolis, Minnesota site. On 21 May 2021, the Smiths Medical Group submitted an initial written response to the FDA, in which the Smiths Medical Group described the actions it had already completed, as well as a number of promised actions to address each of the FDA's observations and discussion items. The Smiths Medical Group is undertaking significant remediation actions, and committing significant resources, to address each of the FDA's observations and

discussion items and to strengthen its quality systems. Key areas of activity include improving procedures relating to complaint management as well as those relating to updating and maintaining design history files and design risk documentation. The Smiths Medical Group provided periodic updates to the FDA on its progress. While this work was ongoing, on 1 October 2021, the Smiths Medical Group received a Warning Letter from the FDA (the "Warning Letter"). The Warning Letter details certain "significant violations" of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the "Act") and related regulations pertaining to the observations and discussion items raised in the Form 483. The Warning Letter indicated that while the FDA acknowledges that the Smiths Medical Group has initiated corrective actions, the Smiths Medical Group's response to the Form 483 was inadequate, principally, but not exclusively, because the corrective actions are not complete. The Warning Letter raises concerns related to the Smiths Medical Group's processes for handling its reporting responsibilities, including for adverse events, malfunctions and recalls, as well as its design and development processes, corrective and preventive action processes and management of its design and manufacturing changes. The Warning Letter encourages the Smiths Medical Group to take prompt corrective action and also notes that the list of violations is not intended to be all-inclusive. The Warning Letter also outlines the various regulatory actions the FDA may take "without further notice," as further discussed below. This summary of the Warning Letter is not intended to be exhaustive or alter or characterise the contents of the Warning Letter. Warning Letters are typically made public by the FDA at www.fda.gov.

The Smiths Medical Group provided its written response to the Warning Letter on 22 October 2021 (the "**Response**"), which contained additional commitments to holistically address the underlying concerns raised by the FDA, including by taking an approach that looks deeper and broader across the entirety of the Smiths Medical Groups' quality management system and product offerings. The Smiths Medical Group is aiming to complete the outstanding remediation actions to address the specific Form 483 and Warning Letter observations and discussion items by mid-2024. The Smiths Medical Group is committing significant resources, to address the FDA's observations and to strengthen its quality systems. The costs associated with the remediation actions are yet to be reasonably quantified within a range, as the Warning Letter and the Response were issued only recently and it is not possible to predict with assurance how the FDA will assess any remediation actions undertaken or the FDA's future response (as set out below in further detail). Smiths' current view, based on the information available to it, is that the remediation costs will likely be significantly greater than the previously reported remediation costs estimate of up to £72 million (equivalent to \$100 million).

The Smiths Medical Group is unable to control the timing or character of further FDA responses and other regulatory communications, and there can be no assurance that the FDA will accept as adequate the Smiths Medical Group's responses to the Form 483 observations, the Response, or any remediation actions that the Smiths Medical Group has or may continue to take in relation thereto. While the Company is not currently aware of any pending or threatened action, including any potential fines or penalties, as a follow-up or pursuant to the foregoing, there can be no assurance that no such action will be taken in the future. If the FDA is not satisfied with the Smiths Medical Group's remediation actions, the Smiths Medical Group could be subject to additional FDA actions, including but not limited to prohibiting the Smiths Medical Group from selling the affected Medfusion® products (which represented c.0.3 per cent. of the Smiths Medical Group revenues in the twelve months to 31 July 2021), requiring the Smiths Medical Group to remove the product from the field, prohibiting the Smiths Medical Group from selling other products and devices, limitations on the company's ability to export its products, refusal to approve future medical devices, requiring the company to enter into a consent decree of permanent injunction, as well as other potential fines and penalties, until the FDA is satisfied that the Smiths Medical Group is operating in substantial compliance with the Act and associated regulations. Any of the above mentioned actions could have a significant effect on the Smiths Medical Group's reputation, financial position, profitability and prospects.

10. DETAILS OF KEY INDIVIDUALS FOR SMITHS MEDICAL

The following individuals are deemed to be key individuals at Smiths Medical:

Name

Position

JehanZeb Noor James Mortensen Chief Executive Officer Interim Chief Financial Officer

11. WORKING CAPITAL

Smiths is of the opinion that, taking into account the Initial Cash Proceeds from the Sale, the working capital available to the Continuing Group is sufficient for its present requirements, that is, for at least the next 12 months from the date of this document.

12. NO SIGNIFICANT CHANGE

12.1 **The Continuing Group**

Save as disclosed in Section 9.2 of Part VII (*Additional Information*) of this document, there has been no significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Continuing Group since 31 July 2021, being the date to which the last published audited financial information for the Smiths Group was prepared.

12.2 Smiths Medical Group

Save as disclosed in Section 9.2 of Part VII (*Additional Information*) of this document, there has been no significant change in the financial performance or financial position of the Smiths Medical Group since 31 July 2021, being the date to which the last published unaudited financial information for the Smiths Medical Group in Part V (*Historical Financial Information Relating to Smiths Medical*) of this document was prepared.

13. CONSENTS

KPMG has given, and not withdrawn, its written consent to the inclusion of its report on the unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the Continuing Group set out in Section B of Part VI (*Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Continuing Group*) of this document in the form and context in which it appears.

Goldman Sachs has given, and not withdrawn, its written consent to the inclusion in this document of the references to its name in the form and context in which they appear.

J.P. Morgan Cazenove has given, and not withdrawn, its written consent to the inclusion in this document of the references to its name in the form and context in which they appear.

Gleacher Shacklock has given, and not withdrawn, its written consent to the inclusion in this document of the references to its name in the form and context in which they appear.

14. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection on Smiths' website at www.smiths.com from the date of this document up to and including the date of the General Meeting:

- (a) this document;
- (b) the Company's articles of association;
- (c) the consent letters referred to in Section 13 of this Part VII (Additional Information) of this document;
- (d) the report of KPMG set out in Section B of Part VI (Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information of the Continuing Group) of this document; and
- (e) the audited financial statements of the Smiths Group for each of the financial years ended 31 July 2019, 31 July 2020 and 31 July 2021.

These documents and the Sale and Purchase Agreement will also be available for inspection during normal business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) at the registered office of Smiths at 4th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB.

Dated 29 October 2021

PART VIII INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Information from the following documents has been incorporated into this document by reference, so as to provide the information required under the Listing Rules. These documents are also available at www.smiths.com.

Document	Information incorporated by reference	Page number in this document
Company's 2019 Annual Report	Information on related party transactions in note 7 on page 160 of Smiths' 2019 Annual Report and Financial Statements	48
Company's 2020 Annual Report	Information on related party transactions in note 7 on page 169 of Smiths' 2020 Annual Report and Financial Statements	48
Company's 2021 Annual Report	Information on related party transactions in note 7 on page 168 of Smiths' 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements	48
TA Circular	Summary of the principal terms and conditions of the TA Sale and Purchase Agreement on pages $29 - 31$	49

Information that is itself incorporated by reference in the above documents is not incorporated by reference into this document. It should be noted that, except as set forth above, no other portion of the above documents are incorporated by reference into this document and those portions which are not specifically incorporated by reference in this document are either not relevant for Shareholders or the relevant information is included elsewhere in this document.

Any statement contained in a document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this document to the extent that a statement contained herein (or in a later document which is incorporated by reference herein) modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this document.

PART IX DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply through	out this document unless the context requires otherwise:
"Act"	has the meaning given to it in Section 9.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Additional Consideration"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"AGM"	the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 11.30 a.m. on 17 November 2021, immediately prior to the General Meeting
"Announcement Date"	8 September 2021, the date on which the Sale was announced by the Company
"Antitrust Conditions"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.3 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"APM"	alternative performance measure
"BARDA"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"BIS"	Smiths Business Information Services Limited
"Board"	the board of Directors of Smiths as set out in Section 1 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Cash Consideration"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"Chairman"	the chairman of the Board
"Closing Notice"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part IV(Additional Information)
"Common Stock"	the shares of common stock of ICU Medical, par value \$0.10 per share
"Completion"	completion of the Sale in accordance with the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement
"Conditions"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"Consideration"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.2 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Consideration Shares"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"Continuing Group"	Smiths and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings from time to time (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, the Smiths Medical Group after Completion), being the continuing business of the Smiths Group following Completion
"CREST"	the relevant system (as defined in the CREST Regulations) for the paperless settlement of trades in listed securities in the United Kingdom, of which Euroclear is the operator (as defined in the CREST Regulations)
"CREST Manual"	the manual, as amended from time to time, produced by Euroclear describing the CREST system, and supplied by Euroclear to users and participants thereof
"CREST Proxy Instruction"	a proxy appointment or instruction made via CREST, authenticated in accordance with Euroclear's specifications and containing the information set out in the CREST Manual
"CREST Regulations"	the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001/3755)

"Daily Payment Amount"	has the meaning given to it in of Section 1 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"Directors"	the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors of Smiths at the date of this document
"Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules" or "DTRs"	the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules produced by the FCA and forming part of the FCA Handbook
"Euroclear"	Euroclear UK and Ireland Limited, the operator of CREST
"Executive Directors"	the executive directors of Smiths, who are referred to as such, and whose details are set out in Section 3 of Part VII (<i>Additional Information</i>)
"FCA"	the Financial Conduct Authority of the UK and, where applicable, includes any successor body or bodies carrying out the functions currently carried out by the Financial Conduct Authority
"FDA"	has the meaning given to it in Section 9.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"FDI Conditions"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.3 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"First Tranche Note"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Flex-Tek Group"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.1 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Form 483"	has the meaning given to it in Section 9.2 of Part IV (Additional Information)
"Form of Proxy"	the form of proxy in connection with the General Meeting, which accompanies this document
"French Works Council"	the Social and Economic Committee of Smiths Medical France SAS
"FSMA"	the UK Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended from time to time
"FTC"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"Fundamental Warranties"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.4 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"General Meeting"	the general meeting of Smiths to be held at Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP, 100 Bishopsgate, EC2P 2SR at 1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding AGM shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021, as described in the Notice of General Meeting
"Gleacher Shacklock"	Gleacher Shacklock LLP
"Goldman Sachs"	Goldman Sachs International
"Headline EBITDA"	has the meaning given to it on page 4 of this document
"Headline operating profit"	has the meaning given to it on page 4 of this document
"HSR Act"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"IFRS"	the International Financial Reporting Standards
"Initial Cash Proceeds"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)

"IT Transformation Services"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3.1 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Ivenix"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Izoard Sub"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"J.P. Morgan Cazenove"	J.P. Morgan Securities plc
"JCI"	John Crane, Inc.
"Joint Financial Advisers"	Goldman Sachs, J.P. Morgan Cazenove and Gleacher Shacklock
"Joint Sponsors"	Goldman Sachs and J.P. Morgan Cazenove
"June 2020 Recall"	has the meaning given to it in Section 9.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"KPMG"	KPMG LLP, incorporated in England and Wales with registered number OC301540 and whose registered address is at 15 Canada Square, London, E14 5GL
"Latest Practicable Date"	27 October 2021 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document)
"Listing Rules"	the listing rules issued by the FCA pursuant to section 73A of FSMA
"Locked Box Date"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.2 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Long Stop Date"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3 of Part I (<i>Letter from the Chairman of Smiths</i>)
"LTIP"	Smiths Group 2015 Long Term Incentive Plan
"Medical Device Directive"	means the EU Council Directive $93/42/\text{EEC}$ and national law enactments thereof
"Medical Device Regulation"	means Regulation (EU) 2017/745
"Merger Agreement"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"MIPA"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.1 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Net Debt"	has the meaning given to it on page 7 of this document
"New Preferred Stock"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Nominated Person"	has the meaning given to it on page 66 of this document
"Non-Executive Directors"	the non-executive directors of Smiths, whose details are set out in Section 3 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Notes"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Notice of General Meeting"	the notice of the General Meeting, as set out in Part X (<i>Notice of General Meeting</i>) of this document to be held at Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP, 100 Bishopsgate, EC2P 2SR at 1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding AGM shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021
"Pari Passu Preferred Stock"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)

"Parties"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths)
"Pensions Regulator"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1 of Part II (Risk Factors)
"PFIC"	passive foreign investment company
"PRA"	the Prudential Regulation Authority of the UK and, where applicable, includes any successor body or bodies carrying out the functions currently carried out by the Prudential Regulation Authority
"Preferential Warranties"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.4 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP"	PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, incorporated in England and Wales with registered number OC303525 and whose registered address is at 1 Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH
"Product Licence"	has the meaning given to it in Section 4.1 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Purchaser" or "ICU Medical"	ICU Medical, Inc.
"Put Option"	the put option deed entered into on 8 September 2021 between the Purchaser and the Seller, in connection with the Sale
"R&W Insurance Policy"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.1 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Record Time"	the record time for entitlement to vote at the General Meeting being 6.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021
"Registrar"	Equiniti Limited, incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 06226088 and whose registered address is at Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA
"Regulatory Authority"	any relevant government agency, court or body acting pursuant to any competition, anti-trust, merger control or foreign direct or national security law, statute or regulation in any jurisdiction in which the Purchaser (and/or the Seller as the case may be) is required to submit a mandatory notification
"Regulatory Information Service"	one of the regulatory information services authorised by the FCA to receive, process and disseminate regulatory information in respect of listed companies
"Resolutions"	the Sale Resolution and the Share Buyback Resolution
"Response"	has the meaning given to it in Section 9.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Royal Metal"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.1 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Royal Metal Holdings"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.1 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"Run Services"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3.1 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Run-off Licence"	has the meaning given to it in Section 4.1 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Sale"	the proposed sale by the Seller of the Smiths Medical Group to the Purchaser pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement

"Sale and Purchase Agreement"	the sale and purchase agreement dated 27 September 2021 entered into between the Seller and the Purchaser in connection with the Sale, as described in more detail in Part III (<i>Summary of the Principal Terms and</i> <i>Conditions of the Sale</i>) of this document
"Sale Resolution"	the resolution being proposed at the General Meeting to approve the Sale and to grant the Directors authority to implement the Sale
"Schemes"	SIPS and TIGPS
"SEC"	the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
"Second Tranche Note"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"SGIHL" or the "Seller"	Smiths Group International Holdings Limited, a direct subsidiary of Smiths
"SGIHL Loan Repayment"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.2 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Share Buyback Programme"	the on-market share buyback programme to apply an amount not exceeding $\pounds742,000,000$ to purchase Smiths Shares
"Share Buyback Resolution"	the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the General Meeting to provide the Directors with authority to conduct market purchases of Smiths Shares, as set out in the Notice of General Meeting
"Shareholder Approval Condition"	has the meaning given to it in Section 1.3 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale) of this document
"Shareholders"	the holders of Smiths Shares from time to time
"Shareholders' Agreement"	the shareholders' agreement between SGIHL and the Purchaser to be entered into on Completion
"SIPS"	Smiths Industries Pension Scheme
"SM2020"	Smiths Medical 2020 Limited, a private limited company incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 12103805, whose registered office is at 1500 Eureka Park, Lower Pemberton, Ashford, Kent, TN25 4BF
"Smiths" or "Company"	Smiths Group plc, incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB
"Smiths" or "Company" "Smiths ADR"	number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St
	number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB an American depositary share representing one Smiths Share, evidenced
"Smiths ADR"	number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB an American depositary share representing one Smiths Share, evidenced by an American depositary receipt the deposit agreement between Smiths, the US Depositary and holders and beneficial owners from time to time of Smiths ADRs issued
"Smiths ADR" "Smiths ADR Deposit Agreement"	number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB an American depositary share representing one Smiths Share, evidenced by an American depositary receipt the deposit agreement between Smiths, the US Depositary and holders and beneficial owners from time to time of Smiths ADRs issued thereunder
"Smiths ADR" "Smiths ADR Deposit Agreement" "Smiths ADR Holder"	number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB an American depositary share representing one Smiths Share, evidenced by an American depositary receipt the deposit agreement between Smiths, the US Depositary and holders and beneficial owners from time to time of Smiths ADRs issued thereunder a registered holder of Smiths ADRs on the books of the US Depositary in respect of any time prior to Completion, Smiths and its consolidated subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings and, in respect of any time
"Smiths ADR" "Smiths ADR Deposit Agreement" "Smiths ADR Holder" "Smiths Group"	number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB an American depositary share representing one Smiths Share, evidenced by an American depositary receipt the deposit agreement between Smiths, the US Depositary and holders and beneficial owners from time to time of Smiths ADRs issued thereunder a registered holder of Smiths ADRs on the books of the US Depositary in respect of any time prior to Completion, Smiths and its consolidated subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings and, in respect of any time following Completion, the Continuing Group Smiths Group Pension Plan, which is a US pension scheme governed by the plan documentation as amended and restated effective as at
 "Smiths ADR" "Smiths ADR Deposit Agreement" "Smiths ADR Holder" "Smiths Group" "Smiths Group Pension Plan" 	number 00137013 and whose registered office is at 4 th Floor, 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB an American depositary share representing one Smiths Share, evidenced by an American depositary receipt the deposit agreement between Smiths, the US Depositary and holders and beneficial owners from time to time of Smiths ADRs issued thereunder a registered holder of Smiths ADRs on the books of the US Depositary in respect of any time prior to Completion, Smiths and its consolidated subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings and, in respect of any time following Completion, the Continuing Group Smiths Group Pension Plan, which is a US pension scheme governed by the plan documentation as amended and restated effective as at 1 January 2017 (as amended from time to time) LTIP; Smiths Group plc Restricted Stock Plan 2014; Smiths Group

"Smiths Medical ASD"	Smiths Medical ASD. Inc.
"Smiths Medical Group"	SM2020 together with its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings from time to time
"Smiths Shares"	the ordinary shares of 37.5 pence each in the capital of Smiths
"Smiths Trade Marks"	the "Smiths Medical", "Smiths" and "bringing technology to life" trade marks owned by Smiths
"subsidiary" or "subsidiaries" or "subsidiary undertaking(s)"	has the meaning given to it in the Companies Act 2006
"TA Circular"	the circular published by the Company on 31 August 2021 in connection with the TA Transaction
"TA Sale and Purchase Agreement"	the sale and purchase agreement dated 2 August 2021 entered into, between, among others, the Seller and Trulli Bidco Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of funds advised by TA Associates LLP
"TA SPA Termination Condition"	has the meaning given to it in section 3 of Part I (Letter from the Chairman of Smiths) of this document
"TA Transaction"	the proposed sale by the Seller of Smiths Medical Group, pursuant to the TA Sale and Purchase Agreement
"Technology Investment Agreement"	has the meaning given to it in Section 8.2 of Part VII (Additional Information)
"TIGPS"	TI Group Pension Scheme
"Trade Mark Licence Agreement" or "TMLA"	the trade mark licence agreement to be entered into on Completion between Smiths and SM2020 as described in Section 4 of Part III (<i>Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale</i>) of this document
"Transition Services"	has the meaning given to it in Section 3.1 of Part III (Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale)
"Transitional Services Agreement" or "TSA"	the transitional services agreement to be entered into on Completion between BIS and SM2020 as described in Section 3 of Part III (<i>Summary of the Principal Terms and Conditions of the Sale</i>) of this document
"unaudited pro forma financial information"	has the meaning given to it on page 41 of this document
"Uncertificated" or "in Uncertificated form"	in relation to a share or other security, a share or other security title to which is recorded on the relevant register of the share or security concerned as being held in uncertificated form in CREST and title to which may be transferred by means of CREST
"underlying revenue"	has the meaning given to it on page 7 of this document
"United Kingdom" or "UK"	the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
"US" or "United States"	the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of the United States and the District of Columbia
"US Depositary"	J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as depositary for the Smiths ADR program
"US Holder"	a beneficial owner of Smiths Shares or Smiths ADRs that is, for US federal income tax purposes (a) a citizen or individual resident of the United States, (b) a corporation or other business entity treated as a corporation created or organised under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia, (c) a trust subject to the

control of one or more US persons and the primary supervision of a US
court, or (d) an estate the income of which is subject to US federal
income tax without regard to its source"Warning Letter"has the meaning given to it in Section 9.2 of Part VII (Additional
Information)

PART X NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

Smiths Group plc

(registered in England and Wales with registered number 00137013)

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a **GENERAL MEETING** of Smiths Group plc ("**Smiths**" or the "**Company**") will be held at Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP, 100 Bishopsgate, EC2P 2SR at 1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding 2021 Annual General Meeting of the Company shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021, for the purposes of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions (the "**Resolutions**"). The Resolutions will be proposed as ordinary resolutions.

Due to the continuing potential health risks from public gatherings because of the COVID-19 pandemic, shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy and to give their instructions on how they wish the Chairman of the General Meeting to vote on the Resolutions on their behalf. Smiths will also be offering a facility for shareholders to follow the General Meeting remotely via a live webcast, should they wish to do so. This can be done by visiting https://web.lumiagm.com. Please note that viewing the General Meeting and submitting questions electronically via the webcast will not constitute formal attendance at, or participation in the business (or quorum) of, the General Meeting by shareholders, and shareholders will not be able to vote via the webcast. For further information on joining the webcast of the General Meeting, please refer to *Information on Joining the Webcast of the General Meeting Meeting*.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

Resolution 1 – the Sale Resolution

THAT the proposed sale by Smiths Group plc (the "**Company**"), through its wholly-owned subsidiary Smiths Group International Holdings Limited ("**SGIHL**" or the "**Seller**"), of Smiths Medical 2020 Limited to ICU Medical, Inc. (the "**Purchaser**") (the "**Sale**"), on the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the sale and purchase agreement dated 27 September 2021 (as amended, modified, restated or supplemented from time to time) entered into between the Seller and the Purchaser in connection with the Sale (the "**Sale and Purchase Agreement**"), as described in more detail in the circular sent to shareholders dated 29 October 2021 and the associated and ancillary arrangements related thereto be and are hereby approved for the purposes of Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority, and that each and any of the directors of the Company (the "**Directors**") and the secretary of the Company (or a duly authorised committee of the Directors) be and are hereby authorised to:

- (a) take all such steps, execute all such agreements and make all such arrangements as may seem to them necessary, expedient, appropriate or desirable for the purpose of giving effect to, or otherwise in connection with, this resolution, the Sale, the Sale and Purchase Agreement and/or the associated and ancillary agreements and arrangements relating thereto; and
- (b) agree and make such modifications, variations, revisions, waivers, extensions, additions and/or amendments in relation to any of the foregoing (provided that such modifications, variations, revisions, waivers or amendments are not material for the purposes of Listing Rule 10.5.2) as they may in their absolute discretion think necessary, expedient, appropriate or desirable.

Resolution 2 – the Share Buyback Resolution

THAT the Company be and is hereby generally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 to apply an amount not exceeding $\pounds742,000,000$ to make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Companies Act 2006) of ordinary shares of 37.5 pence each in the capital of the Company on such terms and in such manner as the Directors may determine, provided that:

- (a) the maximum number of shares which may be purchased is 59,435,913;
- (b) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for each share shall not be more than the higher of:
 - (i) an amount equal to 105 per cent. of the average middle market quotations for an ordinary share of the Company as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days prior to the day on which the ordinary share is purchased; and

- (ii) an amount equal to the higher of the price of the last independent trade of an ordinary share and the highest current independent bid for an ordinary share on the trading venue where the purchase is carried out;
- (c) the minimum price (not including expenses) the Company can pay for each ordinary share is the nominal value of each ordinary share;
- (d) this authority shall expire on 31 July 2024; and
- (e) a contract for the purchase of shares under this authority may be made before the expiry of this authority and concluded wholly or in part after the expiry of this authority.

This authority shall be in substitution for and will supersede any previous general authorities conferred on the Company (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any general authority conferred on the Company by shareholders at the 2021 Annual General Meeting), and, for previous authorities, is without prejudice to any market purchases already made or agreed to be made pursuant to such authorities.

By order of the Board

Matthew Whyte Company Secretary 29 October 2021

Registered Office

4th Floor 11-12 St James's Square London England SW1Y 4LB

Notes

- 1. The shorter notice period of 14 clear days as approved at the Company's last Annual General Meeting has been used for the purposes of this General Meeting as the Directors believe the flexibility offered by the shorter notice period is merited by the time-sensitive nature of the Sale and is in the best interests of shareholders as a whole, taking into account the circumstances and business of the General Meeting.
- 2. Due to the continuing potential health risks from public gatherings because of the COVID-19 pandemic, shareholders are encouraged to exercise their votes by submitting their proxy voting instructions in advance of the General Meeting either electronically or by post. We recommend that all shareholders appoint the Chairman of the General Meeting to act as their proxy and to give their instructions on how they wish the Chairman of the General Meeting to vote on the Resolutions on their behalf.
- 3. Persons who are not shareholders of the Company (or their appointed proxy) will not be able to attend the General Meeting unless prior arrangements have been made with the Company.
- 4. Shareholders are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to speak and vote on their behalf at the General Meeting. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the General Meeting provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. However, in the light of the continuing potential health risks from public gatherings because of the COVID-19 pandemic, shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy. The Chairman of the General Meeting will vote in accordance with the voting instructions of the shareholder. If the Chairman of the General Meeting is appointed as a proxy without the shareholder indicating how they should vote on the resolution, the Chairman of the General Meeting will exercise his discretion as to how he votes.
- 5. If you would like to appoint a proxy and register their proxy votes electronically in advance of the General Meeting, you can submit your instruction by visiting www.sharevote.co.uk. You will need to use the series of numbers made up of your Voting ID, Task ID and Shareholder Reference Number printed on your proxy form. You are advised to read the terms and conditions of use. All advance electronic proxy votes should be submitted by no later than 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021. Electronic registration of proxy votes is available to all shareholders and those that use them will not be disadvantaged. If you return paper and electronic instructions, those received last by the Company's registrar, Equiniti Limited, before 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 will take precedence. Any shareholders wishing to vote on the day of the General Meeting will need to attend the General Meeting in person or by proxy.
- 6. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. However, shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy with their voting instructions to ensure that their vote is counted. A proxy form which may be used to make such appointment and give proxy instructions accompanies this Notice of General Meeting. If you do not have a proxy form and believe that you should have one, or if you require additional forms, please contact Equiniti Limited on 0371 384 2008 if calling from the UK. From outside the UK, call the Equiniti overseas helpline on +44 121 415 7130. Lines are open 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m., Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays in England and Wales). Calls to this shareholder helpline from outside the UK are charged at the applicable international rates.
- 7. In order to be valid any proxy form or other instrument appointing a proxy must be received by one of the following methods:
 - (a) in hard copy form (together with any power of attorney or other authority under which it is signed, or a duly certified copy thereof) using the reply-paid envelope or otherwise by post (in which case postage will be payable), by courier or (during normal business hours only) by hand to the Company's registrar, Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA;
 - (b) in the case of CREST members, by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service in accordance with the procedures set out below; or
 - (c) by appointing and registering the proxy vote electronically by visiting www.sharevote.co.uk (the on-screen instructions will give details on how to complete the appointment and voting process).

IMPORTANT: in any case, to be effective, a proxy form or a proxy appointment submitted via the internet or a CREST Proxy Instruction must be received by the Company's Registrar before 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the event of an adjournment, not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the holding of the adjourned meeting).

- 8. The return of a completed proxy form, other such instrument, any CREST Proxy Instruction (as described in paragraph 13 below) or the appointment of a proxy electronically will not prevent a shareholder attending the General Meeting and voting in person if he or she wishes to do so.
- 9. Any person to whom this Notice of General Meeting is sent who is a person nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights (a "Nominated Person") may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he or she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy of that shareholder for the General Meeting. However, it is strongly recommended that only the Chairman of the General Meeting should be appointed as a proxy. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he or she may, under any such agreement, have a right to give instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights.
- 10. The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraphs 4 to 8 above does not apply to Nominated Persons. The rights described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company. If you have been nominated to receive general shareholder communications directly from the Company, it is important to remember that your main contact in terms of your investment remains the registered shareholder or custodian or broker who administers the investment on your behalf. Therefore, any changes or queries relating to your personal details and holding (including any administration) must continue to be directed to your existing contact at your investment manager or custodian. The Company cannot guarantee to deal with matters that are directed to them in error. The only exception to this is where the Company, in exercising one of its powers under the Companies Act 2006, writes to you directly for a response.
- 11. In order to vote at the General Meeting or any adjourned meeting (and for the purpose of the determination by the Company of the votes they may cast), shareholders must be registered in the register of members of the Company at 6.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021 (or, in the event of any adjournment, 6.30 p.m. on the date which is two days before the time of the reconvening of the adjourned meeting). Changes to the register of members after the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in determining the voting rights of any person at the meeting.
- 12. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual (available via www.euroclear.com). CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.
- 13. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a "CREST Proxy Instruction") must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear's specifications, and must contain the information required for such instruction, as described in the CREST Manual (available via www.euroclear.com). The message (regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy) must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the Company's agent (CREST Participant ID: RA19) by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified in the notice of meeting (being 1.30 p.m. on 15 November 2021). For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp applied to the message by the CREST Application Host) from which the Company's agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.
- 14. CREST members (and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors, or voting service providers) should note that Euroclear does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings and limitations will, therefore, apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member, or sponsored member, or has appointed a voting service provider, to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular

time. In this connection, CREST members (and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting system providers) are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

- 15. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, as amended.
- 16. Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise on its behalf all of its powers as a member provided that if two or more representatives purport to vote in respect of the same shares:
 - (a) if they purport to exercise the power in the same way as each other, the power is treated as exercised in that way; and
 - (b) in other cases, the power is treated as not exercised.
- 17. In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint holders completes a proxy appointment, only the appointment submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders appear in the Company's register of members in respect of the joint holding (the first-named being the most senior).

Availability of documents and other information

- 18. The documents listed in Section 14 of Part VII (*Additional Information*) of the circular dated 29 October 2021 will be available for inspection at www.smiths.com and the Sale and Purchase Agreement will (subject to COVID-19 restrictions and guidance followed by the Company) be available for inspection at the offices of the Company at 11-12 St James's Square, London, England, SW1Y 4LB during normal business hours on any weekday (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) up to and including the date of the General Meeting.
- 19. In accordance with section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, the contents of this Notice of General Meeting, details of the total number of shares in respect of which members are entitled to exercise voting rights at the General Meeting and, if applicable, members' statements, members' resolutions or members' matters of business received by the Company after the date of this Notice of General Meeting will be available on the Company's website at www.smiths.com. Neither the content of the Company's website not any website accessible by hyperlinks to the Company's website is incorporated in, or forms part of, these notes.
- 20. You may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of General Meeting or in any related documents (including the enclosed proxy form) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated in this Notice of General Meeting or in such other related documents.

Total voting rights

- 21. As at 27 October 2021 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this Notice of General Meeting), the Company's issued share capital consisted of 396,503,756 ordinary shares of 37.5 pence each, carrying one vote each. The Company does not hold any ordinary shares in treasury, and therefore the total voting rights in the Company as at 27 October 2021 were 396,503,756.
- 22. The Resolutions to be put to the General Meeting will be voted on by poll. A poll reflects the number of voting rights exercisable by each member and is in line with corporate governance recommendations. The results of the voting at the General Meeting will be announced through a Regulatory Information Service and will appear on our website, www.smiths.com, on 17 November 2021 or shortly thereafter.

Questions at the General Meeting

23. Under section 319A of the Companies Act 2006, any member attending the General Meeting has the right to ask questions. An electronic question facility will also be made available but it shall not constitute attendance or participation on the part of the shareholder in the legal proceedings of the General Meeting and shareholders who follow the General Meeting remotely and use the electronic

question facility shall not form part of the quorum of the General Meeting. At the General Meeting the Company must answer any such question relating to the business being dealt with at the General Meeting, but no such answer need be given if:

- (a) to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information;
- (b) the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question; or
- (c) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the question be answered.
- 24. Shareholders will also be able to follow the General Meeting remotely, and submit questions electronically, via a live webcast, should they wish to do so. Please note that viewing the General Meeting and submitting questions electronically via the webcast will not constitute formal attendance at, or participation in the business (or quorum) of, the General Meeting by shareholders, and shareholders will not be able to vote via the webcast. Shareholders wishing to vote on the day will need to attend the General Meeting in person or by proxy, and shareholders planning to view the webcast should submit their proxies as early as possible appointing the Chairman of the General Meeting as their proxy.
- 25. Please see *Information on Joining the Webcast of the General Meeting* on page 69 below for further information on following the General Meeting remotely via the webcast.

INFORMATION ON JOINING THE WEBCAST OF THE GENERAL MEETING

- 1. At present, public health guidance and legislation issued by the UK Government in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic would permit public gatherings and travel at the date of the General Meeting. However, given the constantly evolving nature of the COVID-19 pandemic, Smiths will also be offering a facility for shareholders to follow the General Meeting remotely via a live webcast, should they wish to do so.
- 2. The webcast of the General Meeting will begin at 1.30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the preceding 2021 Annual General Meeting of the Company shall have been concluded or adjourned on 17 November 2021 on the Lumi website. To access and join the webcast, shareholders will need to visit https://web.lumiagm.com. The website will then prompt you to enter the Meeting ID, which is 143-617-863, your unique Shareholder Reference Number (SRN) and your PIN, which is the first two and last two digits of your SRN. These can be found printed on your proxy form.
- 3. If you attempt to log into the Lumi website before the webcast of the General Meeting has begun, a pop-up dialogue box will appear. Once logged in, and at the commencement of the General Meeting, you will be taken to the Home Screen and will be able to view, and listen to, the proceedings of the General Meeting on your device. To view any General Meeting presentation, expand the "Broadcast Panel" located at the bottom of your device. If viewing through a browser, it will appear automatically.
- 4. Shareholders viewing the webcast may ask questions via the website by typing and submitting their question in writing. If you would like to ask a question, select the messaging icon from within the navigation bar, type your question within the chat box at the bottom of the messaging screen, then click the "Send" button to submit. Please note that viewing the General Meeting and submitting questions electronically via the webcast will not constitute formal attendance at, or participation in the business (or quorum) of, the General Meeting by shareholders, and shareholders will not be able to vote via the webcast.
- 5. The General Meeting will be filmed for webcast purposes. If shareholders attend the General Meeting in person, they may be included in the webcast. By attending the General Meeting, you consent to being filmed.
- 6. Shareholders will be able to access the webcast of the General Meeting online using most well-known internet browsers such as Edge, Chrome, Firefox and Safari on a PC, laptop or internet-enabled device such as a tablet or smartphone. To access the General Meeting webcast, please visit https://web.lumiagm.com on the day.
- 7. An active internet connection is required at all times in order to allow you to watch the webcast of, and submit questions to, the General Meeting. It is the responsibility of shareholders to ensure they remain connected for the duration of the General Meeting.
- 8. Smiths will continue to monitor closely the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the latest guidance from the UK government. Should it become necessary or appropriate to revise the current arrangements for the General Meeting, this will be notified to shareholders on Smiths' website and/or via a Regulatory Information Service.